## Professur für Hydrologie Albert-Ludwigs-Universität Freiburg

André Böker

## Spatial Variability of Denitrification Rates in the Riparian Zone of the Selke River

Masterarbeit unter der Leitung von PD Dr. Christine Stumpp

Freiburg i. Br., April 1, 2016

## Professur für Hydrologie Albert-Ludwigs-Universität Freiburg

André Böker

## Spatial Variability of Denitrification Rates in the Riparian Zone of the Selke River

Masterarbeit

Referent: PD Dr. Christine Stumpp Korreferent: PD Dr. Jan Fleckenstein

Freiburg i. Br., April 1, 2016

### Abstract

During the past decades, an increased application of nitrogen-rich fertilizer led to alarming nitrate related problems. In fact, excess nitrate has substantial negative impacts on groundwater quality and has been related to cause eutrophication and human diseases. Nitrate can be removed from the ecosystems by denitrification where nitrate  $(NO_3^-)$  is reduced to dinitrogen  $(N_2)$  which is subsequently released to the atmosphere. Riparian buffer zones are considered as "hot spots" of denitrification in ecosystems. However, their specific nitrate removal capacity often remains unknown as denitrification rates are highly heterogeneous in time and space.

This study investigates factors limiting denitrification and determines the spatial variability of denitrification rates in riparian zone sediments. To examine the effect of DOC and nitrate concentrations, temperature and soil depth on denitrification rates batch experiments were conducted. Sediments from the saturated zone and the mixing zone of a riparian corridor at the Selke river were amended with different quantities of DOC and labeled nitrate ( ${}^{15}NO_3^-$ ). Over the course of a week, the increase of labeled  ${}^{15}N$  was measured in the headspace, while the decrease of  $NO_3^-$  was simultaneously measured in the liquid phase.

The results of this study reveal significant impacts of both, temperature and soil depth on denitrification rates. With 0.015 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ , denitrification rates from samples stored at average groundwater temperature (12°C) were significantly smaller (p-value < 0.01) compared to rates of samples stored at 20°C with 0.019 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ . Furthermore, rates from the saturated zone were significantly smaller (p-value < 0.01) than rates from the mixing zone with 0.009 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$  and 0.017 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ , respectively. No significant influence of nitrate and DOC content on denitrification rates was found. Most importantly, findings from this study were comparable with literature values and especially with results from prior studies at the field site which revealed denitrification rates of 0.013 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ .

The study demonstrated the applicability of batch experiments to determine factors limiting denitrification. Further research is demanded to validate these findings and provide more data for coupled hydrological denitrification models.

KEYWORDS: Riparian Zone, Denitrification, Batch-Experiments, Hot-Spots, <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub>

### Abstract

Durch den Einsatz von stickstoffhaltigen Düngern zur Nahrungsmittelproduktion kam es in den vergangenen Jahrzehnten zu erhöhten Nitratbelastungen in Böden und Gewässern. Gelangt überschüssiges Nitrat in das Grundwasser, so kann es die Eutrophierung von Gewässern begünstigen und gesundheitliche Folgen für den Menschen hervorrufen. Eine Möglichkeit Nitrat aus dem Ökosystem zu entfernen ist die Denitrifizierung, bei der Nitrat ( $NO_3^-$ ) zu Stickstoff ( $N_2$ ) reduziert wird. Dieser wird als Hauptbestandteil der Atmosphäre zurückgeführt und damit endgültig aus dem Ökosystem entfernt. Eine besondere Rolle bei der Denitrifizierung spielen Gewässerrandstreifen oder Flussauen. Durch hohe Nitratumsatzraten werden sie in der Literatur als "Hot Spots" bezeichnet. Jedoch gibt es große Unterschiede zwischen diesen Gebieten und ihre Denitrifizierungs Raten sind oftmals unbekannt.

Im Verlauf dieser Studie wurden verschiedene Faktoren und ihr Einfluss auf Denitrifizierungsraten untersucht. Hierfür wurden die Veränderungen der Raten durch den Einfluss von verschiedenen DOC und Nitratkonzentrationen, sowie Abhängigkeiten von Temperatur und Bodenschicht in Batchexperimenten verglichen. Durch die Zugabe von markiertem Nitrat ( ${}^{15}NO_3^-$ ) konnte der durch Denitrifizierung bedingte Anstieg von markiertem Stickstoff in der Atmosphäre der Batches über die Zeit gemessen werden. Gleichzeitig wurde die Abnahme von gelöstem Nitrat in der flüssigen Phase gemessen.

Die Ergebnisse der Studie zeigen einen signifikanten Einfluss (p-Wert < 0.01) von Temperatur und Bodenschicht auf Denitrifizierungsraten. Durch die Erhöhung der Temperatur von 12°C auf 20°C, stiegen die Raten von 0.015 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$  auf 0.019 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ . Zudem konnten signifikant höhere Raten im Kapillarsaum gemessen werden, als in der gesättigten Zone. Hier wurden Werte von 0.017 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$  bzw. 0.009 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$  gemessen. Die gemessenen Raten sind vergleichbar mit Werten aus anderen Studien (0.013 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ ).

Somit zeigt diese Studie, dass Batchversuche ein geeigneter Ansatz zur Überprüfung von limitierenden Faktoren der Denitrifizierung sind. Zukünftige Forschung sollte die hier erhobenen Daten durch weitere Versuche validieren. Durch zusätzliche Datenerhebungen kann die Grundlage für die Modellierung von Denitrifizierungsraten geschaffen und somit zuküntige Modelle verbessert werden.

KEYWORDS: Riparian Zone, Denitrification, Batch-Experiments, Hot-Spots, <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub>

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all people who supported me and took the pressure off my shoulders during this thesis. May it be professional or personal support, thank you! First of all, I would like to thank Christine and Niklas for letting me work on this topic. I really appreciate your stamina, support and patience during the last six month. Further, I would like to thank Jan, Nico and Toralf from UFZ Leipzig. Thank you for taking second supervision and your support in the field and during my thesis. A big thank also to the rest of the Helmholtz Institut for your open doors and minds and helpful ideas with regard to laboratory work, instrument maintenance, statistical analysis, after lunch workout and insider places in Munich. Last but not least, it would like to express my gratitude for my friends and family for your support over the last years.

## Contents

Abstract				iii	
Acknowledgements vii					
1	Introduction				
	1.1	Overv	iew	1	
	1.2	State of	of the Art	2	
		1.2.1	Nitrate in Groundwater	2	
		1.2.2	Riparian Zones	3	
		1.2.3	Methods for Measuring Denitrification Rates	4	
2	Res	earch G	ap and Objectives	7	
3	Nitrogen Cycle		9		
4	Fiel	d Site		13	
	4.1	Site D	escription	13	
	4.2	Field	Work	15	
5	Methods				
	5.1	Experi	imental Setup	19	
		5.1.1	Batch Preparation	19	
		5.1.2	Procedure during Headspace Measurements	20	
		5.1.3	Procedure during Liquid Phase Measurements	21	
	5.2	Experi	iments	22	
		5.2.1	Potential Rates and Limitations	22	
			Preparation	22	
			Headspace Measurements	23	
			Liquid Phase Measurements	23	
			Ferrozine Assay	23	
		5.2.2	Actual Rates and Spatial Heterogeneity	24	
			Preparation	24	
			Headspace Measurement	24	

Bi	Bibliography 63			
8	Con	clusions	5	61
	7.6	Outloo	9k	58
	7.5	Implic	ations	57
		7.4.4	Interpretation	56
		7.4.3	DOC Amendments	54
		7.4.2	Differences between Methods	53
		7.4.1	Batch Experiments	53
	7.4	Limita	tions of Denitrification Experiments	53
7.3 Comp		Compa	arison with Literature Values	51
	7.2	Spatial	Variability of Denitrification Rates	50
	7.1	.1 Factors Limiting Denitrification Rates		49
7	Disc	ussion		49
		6.2.2	Mass Balance	44
		6.2.1	Isotope Approach	41
	6.2	Actual	Rates and Spatial Heteogeneity	41
		6.1.3	Ferrozine Assay	41
		6.1.2	Mass Balance	38
		6.1.1	Isotope Approach	35
	6.1	Potenti	ial Rates and Limitations	35
6	Resu	ilts		35
		5.4.2	Statistics	33
		5.4.1	Nitrogen Interpolation	31
	5.4	Data A	analysis	31
			Ferrozine Assay	31
			DOC Analysis	30
			Ion Chromatography	30
		5.3.2	Liquid Phase Measurements	30
			Calibration	28
			Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry	25
		5.3.1	Headspace Measurements	25
	5.3	Sample	e Analysis	25
			Liquid Phase Measurements	25

Α	App	endix -	Additional Information	71
	A.1	Pre-Ex	periments and Stock Solution Preparation	71
		A.1.1	Influence of Headspace Volume	71
		A.1.2	Syringes and Injection Volume	71
		A.1.3	Septa	72
		A.1.4	Stock Solution Preparation	72
	A.2	Chemi	cals and Materials	73
		A.2.1	Chemicals	74
		A.2.2	Materials	74
	A.3	Results	\$	74
B	Appendix - Figures		77	
De	Declaration of Authorship 81			

# **List of Figures**

1.1	Schematic illustration of "hot spot" creation	4
3.1	The nitrogen cycle with focus on environmental impacts	9
3.2	Damage costs of nitrogen pollution	11
4.1	Field site overview	13
4.2	Nitrate and chloride concentrations from the field site	14
4.3	Depth profile of nitrate concentrations and nitrogen isotopes from the	
	field site	15
4.4	Metal tube filled with sediments	16
4.5	Driving core with loose sediments	16
5.1	Experimental Setup	20
5.2	Instrumental design for simultaneous flushing	21
5.3	Schematic representation of a GC-MS	26
5.4	Chromatogram of GC-MS Analysis	27
6.1	Test 1: Comparison of labeled dinitrogen evolution on different days	36
6.2	Test 1: Range of denitrification nitrogen in different treatments	37
6.3	Test 1: Comparison of nitrate and DOC decrease over time	39
6.4	Test 1: Relation between dinitrogen increase and nitrate decrease	40
6.5	Test 2: Comparison of labeled dinitrogen evolution on different days	42
6.6	Test 2: Range of denitrification nitrogen in different treatments	43
6.7	Test 2: Comparison of nitrate and DOC decrease over time	45
6.8	Test 2: Relation between dinitrogen increase and nitrate decrease	46
7.1	Phases of denitrification in batch experiments	56
<b>B</b> .1	Test 1: Comparison of dinitrogen evolution between different treatments	78
B.2	Test 2: Comparison of dinitrogen evolution between different treatments	79

# **List of Tables**

5.1	Composition of batches from first experiments, each treatment consists	
	of three batches which were measured in duplicates. Treatment 5 was	
	autoclaved and serves as abiotic control.	22
5.2	Composition of batches from second experiments, each treatment con-	
	sists of three batches which were measured in duplicates. Treatment 6	
	was autoclaved and serves as abiotic control	24
6.1	Denitrification rates from the first series of measurements. Mean rates	
	per day for labeled nitrogen and total nitrogen calculated for both pres-	
	sure scenarios. Further, percentage of processed total labeled $^{15}N.$	38
6.2	Coefficients from linear regression between nitrogen on the x-axis and	
	nitrate on the y-axis (see figure 6.4)	40
6.3	Denitrification rates from the second series of measurements. Mean	
	rates per day for labeled nitrogen and total nitrogen calculated for both	
	pressure scenarios. Further, percentage of processed total labeled $^{15}N$ .	44
6.4	Coefficients from linear regression between nitrogen on the x-axis and	
	nitrate on the y-axis (see figure 6.8)	46
7.1	Comparison of denitrification rates expresses as $\mu mol N g^{-1} soil d^{-1}$ .	
	Values sorted top-down by the mean rate. Methods from different	
	studies like ${}^{15}N$ , mass balance approaches (MB) and acetylene inhibition	
	methods (AIM).	52
A.1	Composition of groundwater from the field site and stock solution of	
	artificial groundwater. Comparison of main cations and anions	73
A.2	Chemicals used in this study	74
A.3	Materials used in this study	74
A.4	Evolution of Nitrate and DOC concentrations from the first series of	
	measurements	75
A.5	Evolution of Nitrate and DOC concentrations from the second series of	
	measurements	75

# **List of Abbreviations**

ANOVA	ANalysis Of VAriance
AUC	Area Under the Curve
BNF	Biological Nitrogen Fixation
DNRA	Dissimilatory Nitrate Reduction to Ammonium
DOC	Dissolved Organic Carbon
GCMS	Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry
IC	Ion Chromatography
ID	Inside Diameter
MQ	Milli- Q water
NDIR	Non Dispersive InfraRed gas analyzer
NPOC	Non Purgeable Organic Carbon
РСВ	Printed Circuit Board
PVC	Poly Venyl Chloride
STD	STandarD gas
тос	Total Organic Carbon
WHO	World Health Organization

## **Chapter 1**

### Introduction

#### 1.1 Overview

Public water supplier rely on high quality surface- and groundwater to deliver clean drinking water to the customer. If the quality of drinking water is inadequate by nature or cannot be assured, expensive treatments have to meliorate the water quality with incremental costs for the customer. Avoiding water treatment and high costs, the protection of water bodies is of particular importance (Bannick et al., 2008; Rivett et al., 2008).

Recently, high concentrations of nitrate stress surface- and groundwater quality in many European countries. Due to intensification of agriculture and the involving application of fertilizers to the fields, an increase of agricultural nitrogen compounds can be observed in many aquifers (Groenigen et al., 2015).

Consequences of increased nitrate concentrations were shown by Sutton et al. (2011). If nitrate concentration in fresh water exceed the threshold of 6.7 mg/L it might start to affect the biodiversity in fresh waters and pose threats to the consumers (Sutton et al., 2011). High nitrate concentrations in water might cause algal blooms which will subsequently deplete the oxygen levels, thus indirectly killing fish. Moreover, if humans consume drinking water with increased nitrate concentrations, the risk of bowel cancer and methaemoglobinaemia increases (WHO, 2011; Sutton et al., 2011; Galloway et al., 2008). Thus, international policies aim to minimize the effects of nitrate on ecosystems and foremost the effects on human health. For this reason, the world health organization (WHO) set up guideline values for maximum nitrate concentrations in drinking-water of 50 mg/L.

One natural removal process of nitrate from ecosystems is denitrification during which nitrate is reduced by bacteria to dinitrogen. Dinitrogen is subsequently released to the atmosphere and permanently removed from the ecosystem. The reduction of nitrate, however, requires anoxic conditions and organic carbon as electron donor (Groffman et al., 1999). These conditions can typically be found in transition zones between surface and groundwater, and especially in riparian zones. Here, the interplay of fluctuating groundwater tables and high DOC contents can facilitate high denitrification rates (Woodward et al., 2009; McClain et al., 2003). Therefore, riparian zones are regarded as an important aspect in the nitrogen cycle (Mayer et al., 2005). However, denitrification rates are highly variable in time and space and problematic to quantify under field conditions (Groffman et al., 2006). Thus, batch experiments were conducted in this study to determine denitrification rates under controlled conditions.

#### **1.2** State of the Art

#### 1.2.1 Nitrate in Groundwater

Rivett et al. (2008) documented that many European countries are currently facing serious issues with surface- and groundwater quality. Especially, contamination with nitrate causes many complications. Although there has been a minimal decrease in overall nitrate concentrations in groundwater over the last decade, 14.4 % of all European groundwater monitoring sites exceed the WHO guideline value of 50 mg/L of nitrate. Another 5.9 % range between 40 and 50 mg/L (EU-Commission, 2013; WHO, 2011).

In Germany, groundwater contributes with about 74 % to the public water supply (Bannick et al., 2008). Likewise to the EU, 14 % of the groundwater monitoring sites exceeded the guideline value in 2005. Another 34 % ranged between 10 and 50 mg/L and in 52 % measured values were below 10 mg/L. With more and more aquifers failing to meet the drinking water standards, the stress on aquifers with low-nitrate water for blending will eventually increase (Stoewer et al., 2015; Rivett et al., 2008).

Bannick et al. (2008) indicated, that elevated nitrate concentrations closely correlate with growing agricultural production and the vicinity of agricultural areas and drinking water sources. A European study by Sutton et al. (2011) illustrates this situation. About 50 % of 11 million tonnes of nitrogen fertilizer added to European fields is lost to the environment. This underlines the low nitrogen-use efficiency in agricultural processes and explains why agriculture is regarded as one main source for nitrate inputs (Erisman et al., 2008).

Different approaches can eventually improve nitrate management and help the preservation of ecosystems while using the benefits of nitrate for food production. Therefore, Stoewer et al. (2015) state the necessity of tracing and understanding the sources of nitrate into the ecosystem. With this knowledge, a decrease of nitrate inputs into the ecosystem and the improve of fertilizer efficiency can be achieved (Erisman et al., 2008).

#### **1.2.2 Riparian Zones**

Riparian zones have attracted widespread attraction as they facilitate a multitude of nitrogen turnover processes. (Saunders and Kalff, 2001; Ranalli and Macalady, 2010; Cey et al., 1999; Maître et al., 2003; Vidon and Hill, 2004; Hill et al., 2000; Gold et al., 1998).

Generally, riparian zones are defined by a non-cultivated, permanent vegetation cover with a high root density which subsequently results in high contents of organic matter (Maître et al., 2003; Woodward et al., 2009). Furthermore, their vicinity to streams often results in shallow groundwater tables and low flow gradients under riparian zones (Rassam et al., 2006; Kellogg et al., 2005). The interaction between high organic carbon contents, induced anoxic conditions and low groundwater flow rates consequently favors high denitrification rates.

This position was further characterized by McClain et al. (2003). They described riparian zones as an ecotone, an area where two ecosystems meet. Here the confluence of waters with different chemical properties leads to the occurrence of "hot spots" and "hot moments". "Hot spots" are defined as isolated zones with increased biogeochemical activity. Compared to the surrounding area, they show disproportional high reaction rates. "Hot moments" are defined as periods with comparable high reaction rates.

In this study, riparian zones are "hot spots" as interface between terrestrial and aquatic compartments. At this interface, waters with different chemical properties mix and facilitate the confluence of reactants which are required for denitrification. This spatial entity is illustrated in figure 1.1. The situation in the riparian zone at the field site is best exemplified by scenario (b). Excess nitrate from agriculture (Reactant B) leaches into the riparian zone. Here, high DOC concentrations and anoxic conditions (Reactant A) allow denitrifying bacteria to process nitrate to  $N_2$  (Product C). "Hot moments" at the field site can be exemplified as pulses of nitrate from fertilizer applications or as fluctuating groundwater tables. They can subsequently induce "hot spots" (McClain et al., 2003).

Riparian zones function of regulating the transport of nitrate into the groundwater is of certain significance (Lowrance et al., 1997). In addition to high nitrate removal rates by denitrification, assimilation of nitrate by plants and microbes contributes to this regulatory function. By minimizing nitrate leaching into deeper aquifers or surface waters, riparian zones eventually serve as a protective buffer zone (Lowrance et al., 1997; Woodward et al., 2009; Mayer et al., 2005).

Furthermore, this natural protection by riparian zones reduces costs for drinking water treatment as contaminants can be retained or removed before entering the drinking



FIGURE 1.1: Schematic illustration of "hot spot" creation (a) confluence of two hydrological flowpaths with different chemical properties (b) infiltration of hydrological flowpath into a zones with different chemical properties (McClain et al., 2003).

water (Rivett et al., 2008). Therefore, riparian buffer zones are included in the German water law. It sets a minimum width of five meter for riparian zones with the purpose of improving ecosystem services, increasing water storage and water retention and reduce leaching of diffuse contaminants into river systems (BfJ, 2009).

Though mentioned natural protection functions of riparian zones, Saunders and Kalff (2001) state the concern about declining retention and removal of contaminants by riparian zones. They criticize that further river regulations will decrease the exchange of stream water with other ecosystems like riparian zones. Thus, preventing major denitrification sites from effectively removing or retaining contaminants. Furthermore, Mayer et al. (2007) report that under adverse conditions, riparian zones might even function as a source of nitrate caused by nitrification.

#### **1.2.3** Methods for Measuring Denitrification Rates

Results from  ${}^{15}N$  measurements can be interpreted and improved with different mathematical approaches. They aim to differentiate between the reactions responsible

for the  ${}^{15}N$  concentrations in the headspace and can further increase the accuracy and precision of headspace measurements (Russow et al., 1996; Spott and Stange, 2007). Spott and Stange (2007) for instance, developed a method to distinguish between  ${}^{15}N$  from denitrification or from anammox under consideration of atmospheric contamination. However, all  ${}^{15}N$  methods require considerable amendments of labeled substances like nitrate to increase the detection limit of  ${}^{15}N$ , which eventually alters the experimental conditions. Therefore, these methods are rather inappropriate for systems with low nitrate background concentrations (Groffman et al., 2006).

A different approach to solve the problem of measuring gaseous end products of denitrification is the acetylene method. The application of acetylene inhibits the formation of  $N_2$  from  $N_2O$  by bacteria. As a consequence,  $N_2O$  prevails as intermediate denitrification product which can be directly measured due to negligible background concentrations in the atmosphere (Ryden, 1983; Dodds and Jones, 1987; Christensen et al., 1990; Schipper et al., 1993; Pfenning and McMahon, 1996). Since this method quantifies the amount of  $N_2O$  and assumes that it represents denitrification rates, an even distribution of acetylene is necessary to inhibit the activity of all bacteria. This, however, is not given in many studies as the diffusion of acetylene into "hot spots" can be restricted (Evsbech and Sørensen, 1990). This consequently leads to the underestimation of denitrification which can be 5 to 10 times smaller compared to the  ${}^{15}N$  method (Evsbech and Sørensen, 1990; Lindau et al., 2011; Butterbach-Bahl and Willibald, 2002). However, the acetylene method is comparably inexpensive and simple, therefore a large number of samples can be analyzed. All in all, the disadvantages of the acetylene method outbalance positive effects which is why it is not recommended to apply this method (Groffman et al., 2006).

Measuring the increase of  $N_2$  from denitrification in the headspace without further amendments of <sup>15</sup>N or acetylene would require totally gas tight systems as high contamination with atmospheric air (78%  $N_2$ ) would results in major uncertainties in the analysis. This idea was approached by Butterbach-Bahl and Willibald (2002) who quantified denitrification rates without major intrusions in a gas-flow soil core system. They installed intact soil cores into an incubation vessel, replaced the initial atmosphere with He and continuously measured emerging  $N_2$  and  $N_2O$  in a flow-through system. This method avoids the limitations from the <sup>15</sup>N and the acetylene inhibition technique, however, it requires substantial effort to seal the whole system from atmospheric contamination. Furthermore, this method is not suitable for measuring a multitude of parameters or a large number of samples. Groffman et al. (2006) stated the difficulty of determining denitrification rates in the field. Large uncertainties arise with regard to dynamic cycling processes of nitrate and DOC, complex microbial interactions in the soil (Groenigen et al., 2015) and fluctuation of hydrological conditions (McClain et al., 2003).

One field method was established by Addy et al. (2000) who developed an in-situ method with <sup>15</sup>N as a tracer. Their approach is described as a push-pull method during which they inject labeled nitrate and conservative tracers (bromide) into a well and, after a certain incubation period, they collected water samples at periodic intervals. They finally analyzed the samples for dissolved <sup>15</sup>N, and calculated the denitrification rates based on the tracer recovery of bromide. This method was adapted by Kellogg et al. (2005) who investigated vertical variability of denitrification rates in three depths. They reported that denitrification rates generally follow DOC concentrations in the soil and do not necessarily decrease with depth. In addition to that, the found higher rates within 10 m of the stream channel. A similar approach was conducted by Woodward et al. (2009), however, they added acetylene to 50 % of the wells instead of labeled nitrate and measured  $N_2O$  concentrations in the water samples.

However, most measurement from batch or tracer tests only provide information about punctual denitrification rates but due to the occurrence of "hot spots" and "hot moments" upscaling of denitrification rates is still challenging (Groffman et al., 2009). Pinay et al. (2015) proposed upscaling of denitrification rates based on catchment topography and landscape pattern. These factors stand as a proxy for exposure time and different denitrification capacities of particular landscape units. Though, this approach is currently restricted to small scale catchments. Schuetz et al. (2015) and Seitzinger et al. (2002) modeled potential denitrification rates or nitrate removal capacity of small catchments based on in stream nitrate concentrations. In particular, they investigated nitrate concentrations along the stream and integrated the data into a in-stream mixing and removal model. They stated, that especially small headwater catchments can remove disproportionately large amounts of nitrate. Denitrification rates on a global scale are presented by Seitzinger et al. (2006). They report that large scale nitrogen models are most commonly based on nitrogen budgets and nitrogen mass balances.

## **Chapter 2**

## **Research Gap and Objectives**

Riparian zones are regarded as important reactive zone in the nitrogen cycle, mainly because of their denitrification potential (Mayer et al., 2005). However, the importance and dynamics of denitrification rates in ecosystems still remains uncertain (Martin et al., 1999). In fact, the response of bacterial communities to a multitude of environmental factors (Groenigen et al., 2015), unknown fluxes of compounds and the spatial and temporal variability (McClain et al., 2003) are not yet understood and especially challenging to determine at the field site. In addition to that, quantifying denitrification rates, especially the product  $N_2$ , is a major challenge (Groffman et al., 2006). Developing denitrification models that incorporate heterogeneities of denitrification rates in time and space to predict and manage future nitrogen scenarios are of certain importance. However, to create robust and comprehensive denitrification models more high resolution denitrification measurements are required (Groffman et al., 2009).

My hypothesis is that highest denitrification rates occur in transition zones between aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems, i.e hyporheic- and riparian zones or the mixing zone between the saturated and the unsaturated zone. These areas are especially suitable for the denitrification process as they facilitate the confluence of waters with different chemical properties. Riparian zones for example, provide an DOC enriched rhizosphere and most commonly saturated conditions with low flow rates induced by fluctuating water levels. Leaching of nitrate into this zone would consequently lead to denitrification. In addition to that, I assume that conditions in the mixing zone are even more appropriate for denitrification in comparison to the unsaturated and saturated zone. The unsaturated zone features a DOC enriched rhizosphere but lacks anaerobic conditions which are required for denitrification. In contrast, the saturated zones DOC contents might not be sufficient to facilitate high denitrification rates. Fluctuating water tables in the mixing zone favour the creation of denitrification "hot spots" with anaerobic conditions in soil aggregates and furthermore, the mixing zone receives high DOC contents from the rhizosphere. Therefore, I assume that highest denitrification rates will eventually emerge from the contact zone between unsaturated and saturated conditions, the mixing zone.

The main objective of this study was to estimate potential denitrification rates in a riparian zone. Hence the multitude of unknown parameters at the field site, a method was developed to measure denitrification rates under controlled conditions in batch experiments. Further, the setup allowed variations of factors limiting denitrification, i.e. low nitrate and DOC concentrations and low temperature.

Based on prior studies, a spatial variability of denitrification potential with soil depth was expected. This was investigated with different sediments from the saturated zone and sediments from a mixing zone with high interactions between surface- and groundwater. The method was eventually evaluated with other studies and comparable literature values.

The results of this study finally contribute to a better understanding of denitrification rates and its variability in riparian zones. Denitrification rates obtained in this study can be incorporated in catchment models and help to improve the description of catchment processes. Key objectives of this study are:

- 1. Measure denitrification rates with lab incubation experiments
- 2. Compare the results to literature values
- 3. Evaluate the limitations of the used method in comparison to other available methods

## Chapter 3

## Nitrogen Cycle

Nitrogen is a component of every protein in living organisms, but the majority of nitrogen in the global N-cycle is present as inactive dinitrogen ( $N_2$ , 78 %) in the atmosphere (Stumm and Morgan, 1996; Galloway et al., 2008). A schematic approach to the N-cycle is presented in figure 3.1 and depicts possible physical and chemical processes of nitrogen related compounds.



FIGURE 3.1: The nitrogen cycle with focus on environmental impacts (Rivett et al., 2008).

Due to its particularly stable triple bond, the assimilation of dinitrogen is not feasible for most plants and bacteria (Mortimer, 2001). However, some species managed to fix atmospheric  $N_2$  and process inactive nitrogen into active nitrogen. These processes of biological N fixation (BFN) can be facilitated by free living bacteria and lichens or a symbiotic association of plant roots and bacteria (Groenigen et al., 2015). Reed et al. (2011) document, that BFN might even be the dominant N source in many terrestrial ecosystems. Other pathways for nitrogen to enter the terrestrial system are atmospheric deposition and to a small extend lightning fixation (Rivett et al., 2008).

Once nitrogen enters the terrestrial ecosystems in a reactive form, there is a multitude of pathways combined with chemical and biological transformation processes. Nitrogen sources are organic (manure) and inorganic fertilizer, biological and lightning N-fixation or atmospheric deposition. Inorganic nitrogen mostly occurs as nitrate  $(NO_3^-)$  or as ammonium  $(NH_4^+)$  which is the prioritized product from decomposition of biomass (organic carbon). This process is called mineralization. Under oxic and temperate conditions, ammonium is subsequently nitrified by bacteria to nitrate which is called nitrification. During this process aerobic microbes such as *Nitrosomas* and *Nitrobacter* metabolize ammonium  $(NH_4^+)$  to nitrate (see equations 3.1 and 3.2). Thereby, providing fresh supply for denitrification. The exothermic reaction can be divided into two steps (Schachtschabel et al., 1998).

$$2NH_4^+ + 3O_2 \to 2NO_2^- + 2H_2O + 4H^+ \tag{3.1}$$

$$2NO_2^- + O_2 \to 2NO_3^- \tag{3.2}$$

Nitrogen sinks are the assimilation of nitrogen by bacteria and plants (Woodward et al., 2009), leaching and erosion (Schachtschabel et al., 1998) and gaseous losses of nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ), nitrogen oxide ( $NO_x$ ), ammonia ( $NH_3$ ) and dinitrogen ( $N_2$ ).

During the last years the understanding of processes contributing to gaseous losses of nitrogen like anammox (Holtappels et al., 2010), Feammox (Groenigen et al., 2015), nitrifier denitrification (Wrage et al., 2001) and co-denitrification (Spott and Stange, 2011) emerged. However, denitrification is still considered the most important nitrate sink (Galloway et al., 2008). Denitrification is the successive reduction of nitrate to elementary nitrogen by bacteria under the consumption of DOC (see equation 3.3).

$$4NO_3^- + 5CH_2O \to 2N_2 + 5HCO_3^- + H^+ + 2H_2O \tag{3.3}$$



FIGURE 3.2: Damage costs of nitrogen pollution (Sutton et al., 2011).

This process is subdivided into multiple steps which are shown in equation 3.4. Interrupted denitrification can also lead to the emission of any intermediate product presented in the following formula (Martin et al., 1999).

$$NO_3^- \to NO_2^{2-} \to NO \to N_2O \to N_2$$
 (3.4)

Given the presence of nitrate, electron donors (DOC) and anaerobic conditions, denitrification is most commonly conducted by the heterotrophic bacterium *Pseudomonas denitrificans*, or the chemolithoautotrophic *Thiobacillus denitrificans*, (Rivett et al., 2008; Clark and Fritz, 1997; Kendall and Mcdonnell, 1998). Hence the need for an electron donor like dissolved organic carbon (DOC), highest denitrification rates have been measured in top soils or transition zones. Likewise dependent on anaerobic conditions, denitrification mostly occurs when soil saturation is above 70-80 % (Schachtschabel et al., 1998).

However, the N-cycle is not in equilibrium and the formation of reactive nitrogen and thus the input of nitrogen into the ecosystems accelerates (Galloway et al., 2008). Historically, nitrogen was a limiting factor in many ecosystems. This changed in 1910 with the synthetic production of nitrogen fertilizer by the Haber-Bosch synthesis. Due to additional reactive nitrogen, food production and food security increased over the last 100 years (Galloway et al., 2004). While in 1908 one hectare of arable land was suitable to provide food for 1.9 persons, this area feeds 4.3 persons in 2008. (Erisman et al., 2008). The disadvantages of releasing additional nitrogen into the ecosystems are environmental damages like water- and air-quality degradation and a loss in biodiversity due to eutrophication caused by excess nitrate (Rivett et al., 2008; Kulkarni et al., 2014; James et al., 2005; Kendall and Mcdonnell, 1998; Volterra et al., 2002; Galloway et al., 2008; Erisman et al., 2008). Furthermore, ammonia ( $NH_3$ ) and nitrogen oxides ( $NO_x$ ) can increase ground-level ozone, and lead to respiratory and cardiovascular diseases. Nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) on the other hand is considered a greenhouse gas and contributes to climate change (Sutton et al., 2011; Erisman et al., 2008).

With regard to the EU, the financial consequences of excess reactive nitrate, such as nature restoration and health care, add up to 70-320 billion  $\in$  per year (see figure 3.2), which is about 200% of the income generated by fertilizer (Sutton et al., 2011). Moreover, Galloway et al. (2008) established, that the N-cycle will further alter as the imbalance between regions producing N-containing products and regions consuming these products will grow. Producing regions will eventually pay the costs for environmental damage caused by reactive nitrogen.

## **Chapter 4**

## **Field Site**

### 4.1 Site Description



FIGURE 4.1: Overview of the field site at the Selke River (Trauth et al., 2016)

The field site at the Selke river is part of the TERENO observatories for studying hydrological processes. The Selke catchment covers  $483 \ km^2$  and drains into the Bode river. 35 % of the Selke catchment can be described as forested area which is the prevalent landuse in upper regions. Another 53 % are dedicated to agricultural use (LHW, 2008). A riparian forest borders the Selke river on both sides. The study site stretches over



FIGURE 4.2: Nitrate and chloride concentrations from the field site. In red: groundwater > 100 m distance to stream, in yellow: groundwater 25 < 100 m distance to stream, in light blue: groundwater < 25 m distance to stream and in blue concentrations from the stream Trauth et al. (2016).

1 km along the river and is equipped with several observation wells measuring important groundwater parameters like groundwater level, electrical conductivity, temperature and oxygen concentrations. Figure 4.1 shows the locations of observation wells at the field site and nitrate concentrations measured by Trauth et al. (2016). A horizontal gradient with decreasing nitrate concentration towards the stream can be observed.

Trauth et al. (2016) reported data from wells at the Selke site which is illustrated in figure 4.2. The data shows nitrate and chloride concentrations in dependence to stream distance. The first graph shows a time series of chloride concentrations in observation wells from April 2014 until January 2016. The second graph describes the evolution of nitrate. The different colors identify different distances to the stream. A horizontal gradient with decreased concentrations towards the stream can be observed for nitrate and chloride. The  $NO_3^-/Cl^-$  ratio, however, indicates non-conservative behavior. Therefore, the horizontal gradient of nitrate cannot be explained by dilution which finally indicates additional nitrate removal processes in the riparian zone. Consequently, the riparian zone can be considered a "hot spot" for nitrate removal.

Furthermore, three multi-level wells were installed in order to resolve vertical gradients in high resolution. In each multi-level well, 22 ports ranging from 40 cm to 375 cm facilitate water sampling from the unsaturated zone, the capillary fringe and the saturated zone (Gassen et al., 2016). Further information can be obtained from figure 4.3 which shows vertical depth profiles from a multi-level well (Gassen et al., 2016). The left graph shows that nitrate concentrations between 1 and 2 m are reduced compared to lower regions. This implies a second "hot spot" in the mixing zone between



FIGURE 4.3: Depth profile of nitrate concentrations and nitrogen isotopes from the field site (Gassen et al., 2016).

groundwater from unsaturated zone and saturated zone. The second graph illustrates the gradient of  ${}^{15}N$  isotopes in nitrate. As lighter isotopes are preferred during denitrification, the enrichment of heavy isotopes between 1 and 2 m indicates that decreased nitrate concentrations can be explained with denitrification (Kendall and Mcdonnell, 1998).

So far, investigation of in stream reactions and hyporheic zones have been conducted at the field site (Trauth et al., 2013; Trauth et al., 2014; Trauth et al., 2015). They indicated that the hyporheic zone is a significant sink for nitrate. Trauth et al. (2015) reported nitrate concentration in the groundwater of up to 100 mg/l, compared to 10 mg/L of nitrate in the stream (see figure 4.1). In addition to that, groundwater  $O_2$ concentrations ranged from 0 to 5.5 ml/L thus favourable conditions for denitrification. The DOC content was lower than 2.0 mg/L. They modeled in-stream denitrification and nitrate removal. Their results indicated that denitrification accounts for in-stream nitrate removal of up to 8 % over a 1 km stream. Nixdorf and Trauth (2016) investigated groundwater travel times in the riparian zone under different hydraulic conditions. Further information about transit times will provide useful information for denitrification models because the longer the groundwater stays in contact with the riparian interface, the more nitrate can be processed.

#### 4.2 Field Work

Two field campaigns were conducted during the course of this study. During the first campaign, samples were taken at the riparian corridor and from the nearby river bed (see figure 4.1). Samples from the riparian corridor were obtained with a *Sonic Drill*. Fresh samples from the streambed were taken with a spade from a bank of gravel inside the



FIGURE 4.4: Metal tube filled with sediments from the field site after 5 month exposure to groundwater. Considerable orange discoloration from 0-80 cm in contrast to the top 20 cm without discoloration.



FIGURE 4.5: Driving core with loose sediments from second field campaign. Sediments from the mixing zone on the left and from the saturated zone on the right.

Selke river. All sediments were sieved to fractions from 0.18 mm to 2.5 mm, representing medium sand to small gravel. The homogenized sediments were then embedded into 6 meshed metal tubes. In order to expose the sediments to its natural conditions, the tubes were installed into shielded 1 inch monitoring wells from the  $15^{th}$  of July until the  $7^{th}$  of December 2015. Hereby, it was intended to obtain the establishment of natural microbial communities on the sediments (Zhou et al., 2012).

To minimize the contact with the atmosphere and thus a contamination with oxygen during sampling in December, the cores were emptied into 1 L *Schott* bottles which were prior filled with groundwater. Here, it was assured that the bottles were filled from the bottom part under flooded conditions. Each tube was filled into a separate bottle, allowing measurements of pH and dissolved oxygen in the laboratory. In addition to that, extra groundwater samples were taken for the geochemical analysis. All samples were stored at 12°C which approximately represents the average groundwater temperature at the field site. However, a considerable orange color of the metal tubes was observed, caused by unexpected iron oxidation (see picture 4.4). This coloring was also visible in the sampling bottles.

Sediments from the second field campaign, which took place on the  $14^{th}$  of January 2016, were taken from driving cores. A 1-inch core was pile driven into the soil filling the core with sediments. Unfortunately, the core got clogged and the bore hole partly collapsed into the core. This led to unsorted and loose sediments (see picture 4.5). Based on soil moisture content and approximate position, we divided the sediments
into a saturated fraction (> 200 cm) and a fraction from the mixing zone (100-200 cm). Afterwards, sediments were packed into two gas tight plastic bags and stored at  $12^{\circ}$ C.

# **Chapter 5**

# Methods

The following chapter contains information about how the data was gathered and processed. First, procedures in the field will be explained. Further, methods from the laboratory experiments will be illustrated as well as instruments and their respective mode of operation. Chemicals and materials used in this study can be found in table A.2 and table A.3, respectively.

# 5.1 Experimental Setup

Batch experiments were conducted as they allowed precise variations of parameters such as nitrate or DOC concentrations under controlled conditions. Particularly, the possibility of manipulating parameters in a closed system allows to represent a huge variety of scenarios which might not (yet) be represented by the field site. This is an advantage compared to field experiments, where concentrations can be measured over time but no precise rates can be measured as too many parameters remain unknown. To obtain representative denitrification rates for the Selke field site, all sediments were sampled on site and processed within 8 days, minimizing the influence on established microbial communities for the lab experiments.

## 5.1.1 Batch Preparation

This study comprises two different experiments from which the first test (test-1) was used to investigate limiting factors of denitrification and potential denitrification rates and the second test (test-2) was used to determine the spatial variability of actual denitrification rates. Despite different sediment sampling (see section 4.2) the procedure in the lab and the experimental setup were equal. The experimental setup is illustrated in figure 5.1. 20 g of sediment was filled into 100 ml headspace vials and a solution containing labeled nitrate ( $KNO_3$ ) and DOC (acetate) in different concentrations was added. Groundwater and artificial groundwater were used as a medium for the solution.



FIGURE 5.1: Sketch of the experimental setup. Batches filled with sediments containing residue unlabeled nitrate and a solution containing DOC and labeled nitrate. End products of denitrification measured in headspace as dinitrogen.

After the amendment with nitrate and DOC, batches were crimp sealed with gas tight rubber septa and subsequently flushed with a  $Ar - CO_2$  mixture for 10 minutes to remove ambient air, containing  $O_2$  and  ${}^{28}N_2$ . Here, one canula was inserted and adjusted at the very bottom edge of the tilted batch to achieve maximum flow cross-section. A second canula was injected to release the overpressure from the batches, thus allowing a constant flow rate (see picture 5.2). This canula was not in contact with the liquid phase. After flushing the batches for 10 minutes, the second needle was removed and 1.5 bar overpressure was subsequently established to compensate the constant withdrawal of solution and gas from the batches. Afterwards, batches were placed on a shaker for best mixing of the solutes.

#### 5.1.2 **Procedure during Headspace Measurements**

Mixing of the headspace was achieved by rotating the batches in different directions, shaking was avoided. Samples were taken by injecting the needle with closed valve through the septa into the headspace, opening the valve and flushing the total volume of the syringe fivefold. Thereby, mixing the atmosphere inside the batches and removing any residues from the syringe. Hereafter, the required amount of gas was adjusted by a slow uptake of gas to the maximum, followed by a slow release of gas to the required amount. The valve was then closed and the needle was slowly drawn out from the septa, allowing the septa to consolidate before the needle was removed.

To release the overpressure from the syringe, which was obtained by the overpressure inside the batches, the valve was quickly opened and closed inside a water quench. As



FIGURE 5.2: Instrumental design for simultaneous flushing. Device equipped with pressure valve allowing flushing of up to 8 batches under controlled gas flow rate.

the gas emission (water bubbles) was clearly visible, this method has the advantage of an indication of overpressure compared to a pressure release without a water quench. Additionally, a possible clogging of the needle can be identified. After releasing the pressure, the syringe was quickly inserted into the injection port. The valve was opened and the sample was injected by evenly and quickly depressing the plunger.

## 5.1.3 **Procedure during Liquid Phase Measurements**

For water sampling, a sterile canula was injected through the septa of the tilted batch. As the septa was now overlaid by water, air leaking was prevented. Three milliliter of well mixed sample were collected in a 3 ml syringe, thus successively reducing the liquid phase in each measurement. The canula was removed and replaced by a sterile  $45 \,\mu$ l filter. The first milliliter was subsequently discarded to flush the residue from the filter. Thereafter, each milliliter was filled into IC-vials and prepared falcon tubes, respectively. IC-vials were directly installed into allocated trays and analyzed for cations and anions. As for the DOC samples, 1 ml of sample was mixed with 5 ml of MQ in specially designed glass tubes for DOC analysis.

The tightness of the batches was checked via syringe plunger. Due to the overpressure inside the batches the plungers were consequently pushed hereby filling the syringe. As long as there was overpressure inside the batches, they were considered as tight since no ambient air could leak into the batches. Sampled water was not replaced by artificial groundwater to prevent contamination with oxygen. In the case of the abiotic control batches, additional contamination with bacteria was avoided.

# 5.2 Experiments

The first test was used to identify limiting factors for denitrification. Therefore, the influence of different quantities of DOC, nitrate and different temperature were compared. In test-2, the spatial variability of actual denitrification rates was investigated using sediments from different depths, which received DOC and nitrate amendments comparable to field conditions. Detailed information about pre-experiments and the preparation of stock solutions for labeled nitrate and DOC can be found in chapter A.1.

### 5.2.1 Potential Rates and Limitations

#### Preparation

In order to investigate limiting factors for denitrification rates, batches with varying amounts of nitrate, DOC and different temperatures were set up. Table 5.1 illustrates the 5 different treatments. By comparing treatment 1 and 2, the effect of DOC can be observed. Treatment 2 and 3 differ in terms of temperature. Finally, treatment 3 and 4 differ in nitrate concentration. Treatment 5 was autoclaved, serves as a control and thus provides information about abiotic dinitrogen production or contamination.

TABLE 5.1: Composition of batches from first experiments, each treatmentconsists of three batches which were measured in duplicates. Treatment5 was autoclaved and serves as abiotic control.

Treatment	15 KNO3		D	DOC		lution	Sediment	Temp
	μL	mg/L	μL	mg/L	ml	Туре		°C
1	133,0	27.9	46,9	3,2	30	AGW	Mix	20
2	133,0	27.9	11,7	0,8	30	AGW	Mix	20
3	133,0	27.9	11,7	0,8	30	AGW	Mix	12
4	66,5	13.9	11,7	0,8	30	AGW	Mix	12
5	133,0	27.9	46,9	3,2	30	AGW	Mix	20

The pH of sediment suspension was measured and compared with initial groundwater composition to check for processes during the transport. The pH ranged around 7.5 both in samples and initial groundwater. All batches were filled with about 20 g of moist, homogenized soil. According to literature values  $10 \,\mu g \, N \, g^{-1}$  soil was added which is from now on referred to as value for 100%. In order to imitate present groundwater values for the Selke, nitrate amendment for treatment 4 was set to 25%. The amount

of added DOC (100 %) was chosen as it, according to the redox formula (see equation 5.1), represents the amount of DOC to facilitate the total reduction of nitrate to  $N_2$ .

$$4NO_3^- + 5CH_2O \to 2N_2 + 5HCO_3^- + H^+ + 2H_2O$$
(5.1)

To investigate dependencies of denitrification rates and DOC content, treatment 2-4 received a reduced amount of DOC of 25%. Further, this value of 0.8 mg/L approximates DOC concentration in the field. Temperature was chosen as further parameter and varied from 12 to 20°C. Batches from treatment 5 were autoclaved according to the procedure presented by Pfenning and McMahon (1996) and served as abiotic control. They received 100% Nitrate and 100% DOC and were crimp sealed and autoclaved for 20 minutes at 120°C.

#### **Headspace Measurements**

The concentration of labeled nitrogen in the headspace was measured with the *Agilent GC-MS*. The first series comprises four measurements days from the  $9^{th}$  of December until the  $14^{th}$  of December (day 1, 2, 3 and day 5) with duplicate measurements of each batch. Batches stored at  $12^{\circ}$ C were collected briefly before the measurement to avoid unnecessary heating. Results were obtained from *Agilent MSD ChemStation* containing information about retention times, peak heights and peak areas (AUC) for each isotope. Data was exported and further processed in *OpenOffice 4.0*.

#### **Liquid Phase Measurements**

Measurements in the liquid phase were carried out between the  $9^{th}$  of December until the  $14^{th}$  of December (day 0, 2, 5, 7 and 9). In each case 3 ml of liquid sample was withdrawn and prepared for IC and DOC measurements.

#### **Ferrozine Assay**

The Ferrozine assay was conducted to analyze samples for possible formation of ferrous iron over the course of this series of measurements. Thus, samples from the day 0 were compared to such from the day 9. For preparation, 0.1 ml sample was dissolved in 0.9 ml HCl (1 mol) and stored in *Falcon tubes*. Standards for  $Fe^{2+}$  were prepared using different MQ water and FE-solution ratios. Standards and samples were shaken for 1 hour before further treatment. Triplicates of each 0.02 ml sample (or standard) were pipetted into microtiter plates and mixed with 0.18 ml FERR-solution. After an incubation time of 15 minutes in the dark (covered in tin foil), the absorbance was measured.

## 5.2.2 Actual Rates and Spatial Heterogeneity

#### Preparation

Based on the results of the first series of measurements, where different factors were analyzed for their impact on denitrification rates, a comparison of sediments from the saturated and the mixed zone was intended for the second series of measurements. The respective batch setup can be found in table 5.2.

Treatment	15 KNO3		DOC		Solution		Sediment	Temp
	μL	mg/L	μL	mg/L	ml	Туре		°C
1	133,0	27.9	2,1	1,4	30	AGW	Mix	12
2	133,0	27.9	-	-	30	GW	Mix	12
3	133,0	27.9	2,1	1,4	30	AGW	Sat	12
4	133,0	27.9	-	-	30	GW	Sat	12
5	133,0	27.9	8,3	5,7	30	GW	Sat	20
6	133,0	27.9	-	-	30	GW	Sat	20

TABLE 5.2: Composition of batches from second experiments, each treat-ment consists of three batches which were measured in duplicates. Treat-ment 6 was autoclaved and serves as abiotic control.

Data from Gassen et al. (2016) indicated a zone with high DOC and depleted nitrate concentrations in the mixing zone between saturated and unsaturated zone. Groundwater from this division was collected and artificial groundwater was reproduced accordingly (see table A.1). Nitrate amendments from the previous test were adopted. Demoling et al. (2007) demonstrated that the availability of carbon and nitrate has substantial impact on bacterial growth. However, due to residue nitrate and high DOC concentrations in the groundwater it was assumed that the addition of nitrate and DOC into the AGW solution would not result in bacterial growth. As high DOC background concentrations were suspected in the groundwater, no acetate was added to the groundwater-nitrate solution. Finally, serum bottles were filled with 20 g homogenized sediments from either saturated or mixing zone. AGW or GW solution was added and batches were crimp sealed and flushed for 10 minutes. Abiotic controls were autoclaved prior to flushing. Between the measurements, all samples were placed on shakers at 12°C and 20°C, respectively.

#### **Headspace Measurement**

GC-MS measurements were performed between the  $18^{th}$  and  $25^{th}$  of January 2016 (day 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7). Each batch was measured in duplicates with a headspace withdrawal of 20µL, respectively. These headspace samples were subsequently measured in the *Agilent GC-MS*.

#### Liquid Phase Measurements

Samples for IC and DOC analysis were taken at day 0, 2, 4 and day 7. DOC was immediately measured after day 7, IC samples were stored at 4°C for delayed measurements at the central analytic laboratory.

## 5.3 Sample Analysis

The following section comprehends information about the instruments used and theoretical background information on their respective mode of operation.

### **5.3.1** Headspace Measurements

Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) was used to obtain data about isotopic gas concentrations in the batch headspaces.

#### Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry

The combined approach of Gas Chromatography (GC) and Mass Spectrometry (MS) in one measurement facilitates the quantification and qualification of different  $N_2$ ,  $CO_2$  and  $N_2O$  species. Figure 5.3 illustrates the instrument setup of the *Agilent GC-MS*. The GC measurement separates between molecules with different physical and chemical properties (for example  $N_2$ ,  $CO_2$  and  $N_2O$ ) but does not differentiate between lighter or heavier isotopes ( ${}^{28}N_2$ ,  ${}^{29}N_2$ ). In contrast to the GC, a MS measurement separates the molecules based on their mass/charge equivalent (m/z). However, there are many different molecules that exhibit the same mass/charge ratio like  $N_2$  and CO (m/z: 28), or  $N_2O$  and  $CO_2$  (m/z: 44) that could not be divided by a MS. The combination of GC and MS however facilitates this comprehensive approach.

The GC basically consists of three parts: the injector, the column and the detector which are connected and seeped through by the carrier gas (high purified Argon or Helium). The samples get injected through a rubber septa into the heated injection port. Here the volatile sample mixes with the carrier gas and is transported into the column. The column used in this study was a 60 m *Rt-QPlot* column made of fused silica and coated from the inside with a stationary phase to separate the mixture. Based on boiling point and solubility of the compounds, they gradually transfer from the column into the detector. This information gets converted into a chromatogram which represents sample elution and response.



FIGURE 5.3: Schematic representation of combined Agilent 7890A GC and 5975C MS.

Hereinafter, the compounds enter the ion source of the MS via the transfer line from the GC. Here, an electrical current in the filament ionizes the molecules. These are subsequently focused into the electrical field of the quadrupole mass filter. The quadrupole filters non ionized ions which are not affected by the electrical field and thus in random motion. While ionized molecules follow the electrical field and enter the mass detector, non ionized molecules are removed from the vacuum by a vacuum pump. Analytes continue to the detector and are split up by their mass/charge characteristics. The results can be visualized in a mass spectra.

Figure 5.4 depicts a the final output from the GC-MS. Each graph describes the chromatogram of one specific mass/charge ratio. The first graph (Ion 28) for instance, shows the abundance of molecules with different retention times of molecules with m/z: 28. The AUC of the first peak represents the amount of  ${}^{14}N{}^{14}N$  whereas the AUC of the second peak represents the amount of  ${}^{12}C{}^{16}O$ . The difference in isotopic composition of one species, i.e.  $N_2$  can be interpreted by comparing different graphs, which result from MS measurements. For instance, the ratio of different  $N_2$  species can be obtained by comparing the AUC of the first peak from graphs with m/z: 28 ( ${}^{14}N{}^{14}N$ ), m/z: 29 ( ${}^{14}N{}^{15}N$ ) and m/z: 30 ( ${}^{15}N{}^{15}N$ ).

First, the *Thermo Finnigan* GC-MS with a 60 m *Rt-QPlot* Column (0.25 mm ID by *Restek*) was used for pre-experiments. However, it was not possible to receive reproducible results. Therefore, several maintenance operations like cleaning of the ion-source and exchange of the filament, cleaning of quadrupole and prefilter, the replacement of the PCB, replacement of a broken cable harness between prefilter and



FIGURE 5.4: Chromatogram of GC-MS Analysis. Retention time of molecules on the x-axis, abundance on the y-axis. Each graph represents a specific m/z ratio. m/z:  $28 - N_2$  and CO, m/z:  $29 - N_2$  and CO, m/z:  $30 - N_2$  and NO, m/z:  $32 - O_2$ , m/z:  $44 - CO_2$ , m/z:  $45 - CO_2$ .

quadrupole and the exchange of the column had to be conducted. However the improvements were only temporary.

The final series of measurements were performed by a an *Agilent 7890A* GC connected to an *Agilent 5975C* quadrupole mass selective detector (see figure 5.3). The GC was equipped with the identical *Rt-Qplot* column (60 m in length, 0.25 mm ID) used by the *Thermo Finnigan GC-MS*. Highly purified helium was used as carrier gas. As columns had to be installed before each series of measurements, we were obliged to bake out the column and remove any residue compounds and perform an autotune to check for system stability.

As no prior  $N_2$  measurements were performed with the Agilent GC-MS, a new method had to be developed. Basic settings were adjusted referring to and orientated at literature values. However, there was no study with identical column setup. To develop the most suitable method for detection of  $N_2$  a standard mixture (STD) for  $N_2$ ,  $N_2O$  and  $CO_2$ , as well as representative batches were tested. By successively changing the flow-through rate of the carrier gas and the temperature at different components (injector, transfer line or oven temperature) it was possible to break the measurement duration down to 9 minutes. In this case it was crucial to get clear and sharp peaks in the GC chromatograph as some nitrogen and carbon species (CO and  $N_2$ ,  $CO_2$  and  $N_2O$ ) interfere in the MS. Finally, the samples were manually injected into a 250°C inlet in splitless mode, with a septum purge flow of 3 ml/min. The oven temperature of the GC was set to 30°C with a constant flow rate of 1.3 ml/min at a pressure of 23.2 psi.

#### Calibration

GC-MS measurements were conducted to determine the concentration of different isotopic species of labeled dinitrogen in the batch headspace. For this calculation, the partial pressure of each gas species was a crucial parameter. Hence the unknown pressure gradient in the batches over time, two pressure scenarios were calculated. The first scenario assumes a constant pressure in the batch headspace over time. Here, bacterial gas production compensates the sample withdrawal. Scenario 2 presumes a linear decrease of the pressure with increasing headspace volume according to the ideal gas law (see equation 5.2). This scenario is based on the assumption of negligible bacterial gas production rates. The following section will describe the calibration method to obtain results from either scenario.

Hence the relative measurement, it was necessary to calibrate the instrument with samples of known concentrations of  $N_2$ . Thus creating a linear relation between amount of substance and detected area. Different volumes of a pre-mixed standard gas (STD)

were measured as duplicates to calibrate the instrument. The range of the STD was selected to cover all values of the batch measurements and was therefore individually adjusted for each series of measurements. The number of moles for the three standard volumes was calculated using equation 5.2.

$$p_x V = nRT \tag{5.2}$$

with  $p_x$ , partial pressure [Pa], V, volume injected [L], n, amount of substance [mole], R, universal gas constant [J K<sup>-1</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup>] and T, room temperature [K].

Where the partial pressure  $(p_x)$  for fractions of  ${}^{28}N_2$ ,  ${}^{29}N_2$  and  ${}^{30}N_2$  in the standard gas was calculated as a function of partial pressure in the standard gas (1%) multiplied by a specific factor representing the ratio between the isotope abundances as described in equation 5.3.

$$p_x = 101.325 \cdot 0.01 \cdot \frac{N_x}{N_{28} + N_{29} + N_{30}}$$
(5.3)

with  $p_x$  partial pressure [Pa],  $N_x$  AUC of respective dinitrogen isotope [-].

As a drift by the instrument was observed over time, series of standard measurements were performed twice a day, before and after each series, to get a linear relation between detected area and time. Accordingly, individual standard peak areas for the three molecules ( ${}^{28}N_2$ ,  ${}^{29}N_2$ ,  ${}^{30}N_2$ ) were calculated for each time step. Hereafter, slope and intersect were calculated individually for each sample and isotope using the specific standard peak areas on the x-axis and number of moles on the y-axis.

Finally, the amount of substances was calculated for each injection following equation (5.4). This amount represents the number of moles at standard pressure for the injection volume of  $20 \,\mu$ L.

$$n_s = ma + b \tag{5.4}$$

with  $\mathbf{n}_s$ , amount of substance in the syringe [mole],  $\mathbf{m}$ , individual slope [-],  $\mathbf{a}$ , sample peak area [-],  $\mathbf{b}$ , individual intercept [-].

### 5.3.2 Liquid Phase Measurements

Ion Chromatography and DOC measurements were performed to validate GC-MS results and monitor compounds in the liquid phase. Finally, the Ferrozine Assay was conducted to exclude potential side effects from test-1.

#### Ion Chromatography

The analysis of anions and cations of liquid samples from test-1 was performed by a *RFIC Dionex ICS-1100*. IC analysis for test-2 was outsourced to the central analytic. The fundamental principle of IC is the separation of ions by their net charge. The system consists of two separation columns and a detector. The separation columns are packed with charged beads, one column positive, one negative. A liquid sample is flushed through the system by salt solutions called eluents. Again, one solution is positively charged while the other is negatively charged. The separation is facilitated by the fact that, depending on their net charge, substances are differently attracted or repelled by the column. As the absorption is reversible, they are subsequently eluted from the column in relation to their interaction with the column. The travel time of a substance through the columns is specific for each molecule and therefore it leads to a qualitative separation. Finally, substances enter the detector where the quantity of each substance is analyzed by electrical conductivity. Hence the relative measurement, it is necessary to calibrate the instrument with samples of known TOC concentrations. Thus creating a linear relation between amount of substance and detected area.

#### **DOC** Analysis

For the preparation of DOC measurements, 2 ml falcon tubes were acidified with 50 µl HCl (1 mol) and filled with 1.5 ml sample. The quantification of DOC was performed using a *Shimadzu TOC-5000A*. The instrument applies a combustion catalytic oxidation method to obtain total combustion of TOC into measurable  $CO_2$ . This is subsequently quantified via a non-dispersive infrared gas analyzer (NDIR). After the injection of the liquid samples into the 680°C combustion furnace, equipped with platinum catalyst and purged with purified oxygen as carrier gas, the TOC converts into  $CO_2$ ,  $H_2O$  and residual substances, R (see equation 5.5). Following the combustion, the gases undergo cooling processes and pass through a moisture trap. Thereafter, the dehumidified gas is detected by a NDIR hereby quantifying duration and intensity of the  $CO_2$  peak. Finally, measurement results were obtained as relative values and had to be calibrated for quantification.

$$R - C + O_2 \rightarrow CO_2 + H_2O + R \tag{5.5}$$

To differentiate between TOC and DOC, water samples were filtrated with a 0.45µm syringe filter as no differentiation by the instrument was possible. By definition, DOC particles are smaller than 0.45µm and pass through the filter (Thurman, 1985; Zsolnay, 2003).

#### **Ferrozine Assay**

Due to the substantial orange coloring of the batches during the first measurement series and the assumption of iron reduction by bacteria, samples were analyzed for reactive, ferrous iron ( $Fe^{2+}$ ). Samples from day 0 and day 7 were compared to detect a possible increase in ferrous iron. The method is based on the formation of stable iron complexes by ferrozine and ferrous iron. However, ferrozine does not react with ferric iron ( $Fe^{3+}$ ). The produced complex is highly soluble and intensely colored. By measuring the absorbance at 560 nm with a *Wallac Victor* plate reader, the amount of  $Fe^{2+}$  can be qualified. To quantify this amount for each sample, a linear regression between standard solutions of known concentrations and absorbance was implemented (Stookey, 1970; Riemer et al., 2004).

## **5.4 Data Analysis**

## 5.4.1 Nitrogen Interpolation

The production of either  ${}^{29}N_2$  or  ${}^{30}N_2$  can be referred to biological activity and the denitrification of labeled nitrate to dinitrogen. However, due to inevitable contamination of samples with atmospheric  ${}^{28}N_2$ , the determination of unlabeled dinitrogen production by denitrification was impossible to measure and had to be interpolated.

For a total sum of denitrification produced dinitrogen, the amount of labeled and unlabeled dinitrogen in the headspace had to be added to the respective amounts dissolved in the liquid phase. Therefore, dissolved labeled dinitrogen was calculated using Henry's law with variable solubility constants for 12 and 20°C. The concentration of unlabeled dinitrogen in either phase was interpolated based on the enrichment of labeled nitrate in the nitrate source pool.

First of all, the number of moles calculated for each injection had to be calculated from injection volume to the batch headspace volume. To obtain the number of moles per batch for each molecule ( ${}^{28}N_2$ ,  ${}^{29}N_2$ ,  ${}^{30}N_2$ ), the results from section 5.3.1 were converted with regard to specific headspace volumes and pressure inside the batches

(see equation 5.6). The headspace volume was calculated as difference between the batch weight after the final measurements and the weight after filling the batch with MQ to the maximum. For this purpose, batches were filled up to the top and were sealed with a septa equipped with a canula. By pushing the septa into the batches, excess water was displaced through the canula and the exact headspace volume could be determined. Finally, headspace volumes were calculated for each day by adding the volume extracted for IC and DOC measurements to the endpoint headspace volume.

$$n_b = \frac{n_s}{V_s} \cdot V_b \cdot p_b \tag{5.6}$$

with  $\mathbf{n}_b$ , amount of substance in the headspace [mole],  $\mathbf{n}_s$ , amount of substance in the syringe [mole],  $\mathbf{V}_s$ , syringe volume [L],  $\mathbf{V}_b$ , headspace volume [L],  $\mathbf{p}_b$  batch overpressure [atm].

The amount of labeled nitrogen in the headspace was calculated using equation 5.7.

$$n_{15_N} = 2 \cdot n_{30} + n_{29} \tag{5.7}$$

with  $\mathbf{n}_{15_N}$ , amount of labeled nitrogen [mole],  $\mathbf{n}_{30}$ , amount of  ${}^{30}N_2$  [mole],  $\mathbf{n}_{29}$ , amount of  ${}^{29}N_2$  [mole].

The <sup>15</sup>N content of the nitrate source pool was assessed in two different approaches: (i) the concentration of labeled nitrate solution was compared to values of total nitrate from IC measurements. Equation 5.8 depicts this approach. (ii) since no potassium was added to AGW, total potassium in the solution derives from labeled potassium nitrate. The deviation from initial  $K/NO_3^-$  ratio can be interpreted as dilution by unlabeled nitrate.

$$e = \frac{c({}^{15}NO_3^-)}{c(NO_3^-)} \tag{5.8}$$

with  $\mathbf{e}$ , <sup>15</sup>N enrichment in the nitrate source pool,  $\mathbf{c}_{15}_{NO_3^-}$ , labeled nitrate concentration in solution on day 0 [mg/L],  $\mathbf{c}_{NO_3^-}$ , total nitrate concentration in solution on day 0 [mg/L].

Further steps were performed to receive the amount of dinitrogen molecules dissolved in the liquid phase. Henry's Law relates the concentration of dissolved gases with the partial pressure of the atmosphere. It was applied to calculate the amount of dinitrogen in the liquid phase (Mortimer, 2001; Sander, 2015; Domenico and Schwartz, 1990; Stumm and Morgan, 1996). The solubility constant for the respective temperature was calculated using the van't Hoff equation 5.9 modified from Sander (2015).

$$H_{12}^{cp} = H_{25}^{cp} \cdot exp\left(C \cdot \left(\frac{1}{T_{12}} - \frac{1}{T_{25}}\right)\right)$$
(5.9)

with  $\mathbf{H}^{cp}$ , Henry's solubility constant for  $N_2$  at different temperatures,  $\mathbf{C}$ , constant = 1300,  $\mathbf{T}$ , temperature of liquid phase [K].

Hereinafter, the concentration of labeled dinitrogen molecules in the liquid phase was obtained by applying equation 5.10.

$$C_{15_N} = H^{cp} \cdot P \tag{5.10}$$

with C liquid phase concentration for molecule A [moles/L],  $H^{cp}$  Henry's law constant [-], P, partial pressure in the headspace for molecule A [atm].

According to Kulkarni et al. (2014), total dinitrogen production in the headspace or in the liquid phase  $n_N$  was calculated by dividing the amount of labeled nitrogen in either phase by the <sup>15</sup>N enrichment (see equation 5.11). Under the assumption of random paring of nitrogen atoms (Thamdrup and Dalsgaard, 2002; Holtappels et al., 2010; Groffman et al., 2006) the total dinitrogen production, including the production of <sup>28</sup>N<sub>2</sub> was calculated.

$$n_N = \frac{n_{15}}{e} \tag{5.11}$$

with  $\mathbf{n}_N$  total dinitrogen-N production [mole],  $\mathbf{n}_{15N}$  amount of labeled nitrogen [mole] and  $\mathbf{e}^{15}N$  enrichment in the nitrate source pool [-].

However, fractionation effects during denitrification (Kendall and Mcdonnell, 1998) were not integrated which might result in the underestimation of denitrification rates.

#### 5.4.2 Statistics

The data was checked for normal distribution with Komogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk-test. Bartlett-test was used to check for equal variances which is required for ANOVA (Analysis of Variance). If the data was not parametric, it was necessarily transformed into normal distribution. For parametric distribution with a sample size > 2, one-way ANOVA and Welch-test for one-way analysis of means were used (independent

data groups). Students and Welch-test were used to compare two mean values. If distribution was non-parametric and sample size was > 2, Kruskal & Wallis (independent) was applied. Mann & Whitney (independent) and Wilcoxon-test (dependent) were used two compare two values (Singer and Karwautz, 2014).

Microsoft Excel 2010 was used for data compilation from the peak detection software. Advanced statistical analysis and descriptive statistics were conducted in R-Studio (0.98.1091).

# Chapter 6

# Results

# 6.1 Potential Rates and Limitations

The following section comprises results from the first series of measurements. Sediments were embedded in meshed metal tubes and exposed to groundwater. Five different treatments were prepared to investigate the influence of nitrate, DOC and temperature limitation on denitrification rates.

### 6.1.1 Isotope Approach

The growth of total  ${}^{15}N$  (headspace and dissolved) from scenario 1 can be seen in figure 6.1. Each box contains values from 6 measurements per day (n = 6). The top and the bottom of the boxes represent the first and third quantile, respectively. The median or second quantile is expressed as horizontal band.

The results for treatment 1 show significant differences between  ${}^{15}N$  production and days in a one-way ANOVA (F = 35.62, d.f1 = 1, d.f2 = 22, Pr(>F) < 0.001). Pairwise comparison of means by t-test revealed significant differences between day 1 to 3 (p-value < 0.01) but no significant changes between day 3 and 5 (p-value = 1). The overall shape of  ${}^{15}N$  increase over time shows a logarithmic trend with maximum rates between day 1 and 2 and successively decreasing rates between day 2 and 5. Labeled nitrogen values reached a constant level on day 3 without further increase on day 5. In contrast, treatment 2 shows a linear increase over time with significant  ${}^{15}N$  increase over time (F = 135.1, d.f1 = 1, d.f2 = 22, Pr(>F) < 0.001). Significant differences between each day were identified (p-value < 0.001). Despite lower DOC content, treatment 2 produced comparable  ${}^{15}N$  concentrations to treatment 1 (p-value = 0.15). Labeled nitrogen production in treatment 3 was generally slower than in treatment 1 and 2, resulting in less  ${}^{15}N$  production over the course of 5 days compared to treatment 2 (20°C). Concentrations differed significantly from treatment 2 (p-value < 0.05). Further, the increase of  ${}^{15}N$  over time was significant (F = 125.3, d.f1 = 1, d.f2 = 22, Pr(>F) < 0.001) with significant differences between each day (p-value < 0.001). Test results from



FIGURE 6.1: Comparison of labeled dinitrogen evolution between different treatments from the first series of measurements.



FIGURE 6.2: Evolution of denitrification nitrogen in different treatments from the first series of measurement. Mean evolution of nitrogen expressed as white, dashed line.

ANOVA indicated significant differences of  ${}^{15}N$  production between days in treatment 4 (F = 146.4, d.f1 = 1, d.f2 = 22, Pr(>F) < 0.001) with significant differences between each day (p-value < 0.001). However, there was no significant difference to treatment 3 (p-value = 0.30). No significant differences were found with a Wilcoxon rank sum test in treatment 5, the abiotic control (p-value > 0.1). Labeled nitrogen concentrations stayed leveled over the time.

The results may be summarized as follows: All treatments differed from the abiotic control. Variation of DOC (compare treatment 1 and 2) and nitrate (compare treatment 3 and 4) showed no significant impact on  ${}^{15}N$  production. Whereas a drop in temperature from 20 to 12°C caused significantly lower denitrification rates (compare treatment 2 and 3).

As explained in section 5.3.1, results from GC-MS measurements were calculated for two pressure scenarios. Figure 6.2 depicts the evolution of total dinitrogen-N ( $^{14}N$  and  $^{15}N$ ) from denitrification in different treatments. Each treatment comprehends three batches with identical conditions.

The colored areas represent possible ranges of total nitrogen for treatment 1 to 4. Treatment 5, the abiotic control was not displayed as no significant increase of nitrogen was observed. The larger area stands for a maximum range which consists of minimum values from scenario 2, assuming pressure changes in the headspace and maximum values from scenario 1 assuming constant pressure in the headspace over time. In contrast, the overlying area represents a range of values between the means of scenario 1 and 2. The white dashed line stands for the mean values of scenario 1 and 2.

Denitrification rates were calculated as nitrogen difference between day 1 and day 5. They can be found in table 6.1. Rates were calculated in µmol nitrogen-N per day for constant and variable pressure scenarios. Furthermore, the amount of labeled nitrogen-N can be compared to the amount of total nitrogen-N. Recovery of labeled nitrogen is displayed as percentage over the course of five days. Statistical analysis was performed using data from the main population (batch 1-12) and not the mean values displayed in this table.

TABLE 6.1: Denitrification rates from the first series of measurements. Mean rates per day for labeled nitrogen and total nitrogen calculated for both pressure scenarios. Further, percentage of processed total labeled  $^{15}N$ .

	Scenario 1:	Constant pres	sure	Scenario 2: Varia		
Treatment	$\mu$ mol <sup>15</sup> N d <sup>-1</sup>	µmol N d <sup>-1</sup>	$\% {}^{15}N$	µmol <sup>15</sup> N d <sup>-1</sup>	µmol N <sup>-1</sup>	$\% {}^{15}N$
1	0.2739	0.3718	10.27	0.2229	0.3025	8.36
2	0.2887	0.4454	10.83	0.2355	0.3114	8.83
3	0.1256	0.2771	4.71	0.1125	0.3327	4.22
4	0.1202	0.2220	4.51	0.0983	0.3634	3.69
5	-	-	-	-	-	-

No significant influence of DOC content on nitrogen production was observed between treatment 1 and 2 (t = -2.4818, df = 3.91, p-value = 0.06952). Recovery of labeled nitrogen ranged between 8 and 10 % over five days in both treatments. Apart from a different storage temperature, treatment 2 and 3 were set up identically. However, denitrification rates differed significantly (t = -12.318, df = 2.436, p-value < 0.01). Recovery rates in treatment 3 are within the range of 4 %. The effect of reduced nitrate amendments can be asses by comparing treatment 3 (100 % <sup>15</sup>*NO*3\_) with treatment 4 (25 % <sup>15</sup>*NO*3\_). Nevertheless, there was no significant difference between denitrification rates of treatment 4 compared to treatment 3 (t = 1.1004, df = 3.878, p-value = 0.3347). Due to low nitrogen changes in the abiotic control, which did not exceed the measurement accuracy, no denitrification rates were calculated for treatment 5.

## 6.1.2 Mass Balance

IC and DOC measurements were carried out to validate denitrification rates. Assuming no fractionation effects during denitrification, optimal behavior would be a linear relation with a slope of -1 between nitrogen increase and nitrate decrease. As DOC was considered a crucial parameter for limitation of denitrification rates, this parameter allows further understanding of denitrification processes in the batches.



FIGURE 6.3: Comparison of nitrate and DOC decrease from the first series of measurements over time. Batches from treatment 1 (1-3, orange), treatment 2 (4-6, green), treatment 3 (7-9, blue) and treatment 4 (10-12, red).

Figure 6.3 illustrates the decrease of nitrate and DOC over time. Measurements from batch 1 to 12 are presented and colors label the respective treatments. Batches from treatment 1 and 4 showed similar nitrate reduction curves. Both treatments received DOC and nitrate amendments in equal ratios, but different quantities (treatment 1: 100 %, treatment 2: 25 %). However, they were stored at different temperatures (treatment 1: 20°C, treatment 4: 12°C). Their curves are defined by a steep decrease between day 1 and 2 and a further slight decline until day 5. In treatment 1, a mean reduction of  $13.2 \pm 1.7$  mg/L nitrate was measured. Whereas nitrate concentrations in treatment 4 declined by  $9.5 \pm 1.3$  mg/L over the five day period. On day 5, no nitrate was detected in treatment 1 and values below 1 mg/L were measured in treatment 4. Nitrate decrease in treatment 2 and 3 can be described as gradual with a mean of  $10.9 \pm 1.3$  and  $8.2 \pm 3.1$  mg/L over five days, respectively. Measured mean concentrations on day 5 for treatment 2 were  $4.1 \pm 1.8$  mg/L and  $10.9 \pm 1.2$  mg/L for treatment 3.

Treatment 2 to 4 received DOC amendments of 25 % compared to treatment 1. This is validated by DOC concentrations of  $7.1 \pm 0.2$ ,  $8.0 \pm 0.9$  and  $8.1 \pm 0.3$  mg/L in treatments 2 to 4, compared to  $29.8 \pm 1.1$  mg/L in treatment 1. From day 2, the amount of DOC in treatment 2 to 4 was below 1 mg/L, in contrast to treatment 1 where the amount declines until day 5. Over the course of five days, DOC concentrations in treatment 1 decreased  $28 \pm 1.9$  mg/L compared to  $6.9 \pm 0.4$  in treatment 2,  $7.9 \pm 0.9$  in treatment 3 and  $8.0 \pm 0.3$  mg/L in treatment 4.



FIGURE 6.4: Relation between dinitrogen increase and nitrate decrease. Linear relation of each treatment illustrated by dashed lines.

To summarize, a decrease in nitrate and DOC was observed in in treatment 1 to 4. Despite treatment 1, all batches were under limiting DOC circumstances from day 2. However, nitrate reduction continued unchanged in treatment 2 and 3.

It was assumed, that the reduction of 1 mole nitrate-N during denitrification would consequently emerge 1 mole of dinitrogen-N in the headspace. This would imply a slope of -1 comparing N in the headspace and residual nitrate in the liquid phase. However, fractionation effects were neglected, thus leading to underestimation of headspace nitrogen. The relation of nitrate-N decrease and dinitrogen-N increase can be seen in figure 6.4. Calculation of the adjusted  $r^2$  for treatment 1 resulted in 0.94. However, only two cluster on either side of the trendline dominate the relation. Data points for treatment 2 and 3 scatter around the trendline, whereas data points from treatment 4 show a rather exponential decline and cannot properly be described by the linear regression. The coefficients from the linear regression are illustrated in table 6.2.

A slope smaller than -1 indicates a faster decrease of nitrate-N in contrast to nitrogen-N. In this case, nitrate-N declines 2.2 to 3.6 times faster than nitrogen-N increases.

Treatment	Slope	Intercept	$r^2$
1	-3.56	6.86E-06	0.94
2	-2.22	7.61E-06	0.76
3	-2.29	9.05E-06	0.46
4	-3.34	4.64E-06	0.68

TABLE 6.2: Coefficients from linear regression between nitrogen on thex-axis and nitrate on the y-axis (see figure 6.4).

### 6.1.3 Ferrozine Assay

The Ferrozine assay was conducted to gain information about the reliability of test-1. As an considerable discoloration was observed, it was assumed that bacteria could produce ferrous iron under the consumption of DOC. If this was the case, denitrification results would be error-prone due to the competitive consumption of DOC. Therefore, samples from day 1 were compared with samples from day 5 and results indicated the absence of ferrous iron on both days. No values differed significantly from the zero stock check. This led to the assumption that denitrification processes during this test were not influenced by iron reduction and the results obtained were comparable to the second series of measurements.

# 6.2 Actual Rates and Spatial Heteogeneity

Results from the second series of measurements will be presented in the following section. Fresh sediments from the mixing zone between unsaturated and saturated zones, and sediments from the saturated zone were collected. Hereafter, six treatments were prepared to compare denitrification rates from the mixing zone (treatment 1 and 2) and the saturated zone (treatment 3 and 4) with potential denitrification rates (treatment 5). Treatment 6 is the abiotic control.

#### 6.2.1 Isotope Approach

The growth of total  ${}^{15}N$  (headspace and dissolved) from scenario 1 over time can be seen in figure 6.5. Each box contains values from 6 measurements per day (n = 6).

A significant difference in nitrogen concentration was found for treatment 1 (F = 382.7, d.f1 = 1, d.f2 = 40, Pr(>F) < 0.001) with significant differences between day 1 and 2 (p-value < 0.01) and between day 4 and 7 (p-value < 0.001). No significant increase in nitrogen could be found between day 2 and 4. Similar pattern was found for treatment 2 (F = 355, d.f1 = 1, d.f2 = 40, Pr(>F) < 0.001), however with a higher significance between day 1 and 2 (p-value < 0.001). Nitrogen concentration in treatment 3 show a more linear increase until day 4 without significant differences between the days. Test results from ANOVA revealed significant differences though (F = 129.7, d.f1 = 1, d.f2 = 40, Pr(>F) < 0.001) which could be identified between day 4 and 7 (p-value < 0.001). Treatment 4 showed significant nitrogen differences (F = 380, d.f1 = 1, d.f2 = 40, Pr(>F) < 0.001) which were found between day 1 and 2, 4 and 5 (p-value < 0.001) and 5 and 7 (p-value < 0.05), respectively. Treatment 5 received DOC amendments and significant nitrogen differences were found between the days (F = 107.6, d.f1 = 1, d.f2 = 34, Pr(>F)



FIGURE 6.5: Comparison of labeled dinitrogen evolution on different days from the second series of measurements.



FIGURE 6.6: Evolution of denitrification nitrogen in different treatments from the second series of measurement. Mean evolution of nitrogen expressed as white, dashed line.

< 0.001). To specify, significant differences were identified between day 0 and 1, day 2 and 3 and day 4 to 7 (p-value < 0.001). Finally, no significant differences were found in the abiotic control ((F = 3.33, d.f1 = 1, d.f2 = 34, Pr(>F) = 0.08).

The development range of nitrogen derived from denitrification can be seen in figure 6.6. Based on uncertain pressure changes in the batch headspaces, results for scenario 1 were calculated for constant pressure, whereas results for scenario 2 were calculated for a linear decreasing pressure.

Background areas represent the maximum range of total denitrification derived nitrogen. The boundaries are defined by minimum values from scenario 2 and maximum values from scenario 1. The overlying area is defined by mean values from both scenarios 1 and 2. The white dashed line finally stands for the mean nitrogen value. In contrast to test-1, first measurements were conducted on day 0, the same day the batches were prepared. The evolution of nitrogen proceeds comparable in all treatments. Between day 0 and 1, no considerable amount of nitrogen was produced. In contrast, nitrogen stays constant or depending on the scenario and treatment, even decreases. Between day 1 and 2, a steep increase can be observed which subsequently levels or attenuates until day 4. Until the end of the measurements on day 7, a steep linear increase can be observed in treatment 1 and 2 (mixing zone). Nitrogen concentrations in treatment 3 and 4 are less steep with a more logarithmic shape curve between day 5 and 7 compared to treatment 1 and 2. Table 6.3 illustrates denitrification rates from the second series of measurements. Furthermore, tracer recovery is expressed as percentage of measured  ${}^{15}N$  compared to the labeled nitrate amendments.

	Scenario 1: Constant			Scenario 2: `		
Treatment	$\mu$ mol <sup>15</sup> N d <sup>-1</sup>	µmol N d <sup>-1</sup>	% <sup>15</sup> N	µmol <sup>15</sup> N d <sup>-1</sup>	µmol N d <sup>-1</sup>	% <sup>15</sup> N
1	0.3434	0.4037	18.03	0.2581	0.3034	13.55
2	0.3516	0.3756	18.46	0.2610	0.2787	13.70
3	0.2544	0.2590	13.35	0.1906	0.1941	10.01
4	0.1415	0.1428	7.43	0.1039	0.1049	5.45
5	0.5620	0.5951	29.51	0.4275	0.4526	22.44
6	0.0055	0.0059	0.29	0.0012	0.0013	0.06

TABLE 6.3: Denitrification rates from the second series of measurements. Mean rates per day for labeled nitrogen and total nitrogen calculated for both pressure scenarios. Further, percentage of processed total labeled  ${}^{15}N$ 

No significant difference was detected between either treatments with sediments from the mixing zone (treatment 1 and 2, t = 1.158, df = 3.408, p-value = 0.3215) or treatments with sediments from the saturated zone (treatments 3 and 4, t = 1.9902, df = 2.204, p-value = 0.1729). This fact indicates no influence of the medium (GW or AGW) on denitrification rates. In contrast to that, a significant difference was found between mixing zone and saturated zone (t = 4.855, df = 6.144, p-value < 0.01). Treatment 5 was set up with sediments from the saturated zone and received additional DOC amendments. Therefore it was not compared with treatment 3 and 4 but regarded separately. Significant differences were found in comparison with denitrification rates from the mixing zone (t = -4.2322, df = 2.291, p-value < 0.05) and the saturated zone (t = -6.6128, df = 4.535, p-value < 0.01). All treatments differed from the abiotic control (p < 0.001).

## 6.2.2 Mass Balance

Figure 6.7 shows the evolution of nitrate and DOC over the course of 7 days. Batch 1 to 15 are color coded and represent treatment 1 (orange), treatment 2 (green), treatment 3 (blue), treatment 4 (red) and treatment 5 (purple). Treatment 1 and 2 were set up with sediments from the mixing zone and treatments 3 and 4 were set up with sediments from the saturated zone. As it can be seen, treatments 1 to 4 show a gradual decline in nitrate concentrations over time. In contrast to treatment 1 to 4, treatment 5 represents potential denitrification rates and received supplementary DOC amendments.

The different batch setup is reflected by the difference between nitrate concentration on day 0 with higher concentrations in batches from the mixing zone (t = 4.1352, df =



FIGURE 6.7: Comparison of nitrate and DOC decrease from the second series of measurements over time. Batches from treatment 1 (1-3, orange), treatment 2 (4-6, green), treatment 3 (7-9, blue), treatment 4 (10-12, red) and treatment 5 (13-15, purple).

7.035, p-value < 0.01). Mean nitrate reduction in treatment 1 was  $19.9 \pm 1.1 \text{ mg/L}$  with residue nitrate on day 7 of  $6.6 \pm 2.6 \text{ mg/L}$ , compared to treatment 2 with  $19.6 \pm 0.8 \text{ mg/L}$  reduced and  $5.9 \pm 0.5 \text{ mg/L}$  remaining nitrate. However, no significant difference was found between rates in batches of treatment 1 and 2 (t = 0.5075, df = 3.699, p-value = 0.6406). Nitrate reduction rates from treatment 1 and 2 however, were significantly different from treatment 3 and 4 with sediments from the saturated zone (t = 9.0507, df = 6.49, p-value < 0.001). Nitrate in treatment 3 was reduced by  $11.7 \pm 3.2 \text{ mg/L}$  to  $11.2 \pm 3.3 \text{ mg/L}$ , whereas nitrate reduction in treatment 4 was  $9.9 \pm 0.4 \text{ mg/L}$  with remaining  $14.2 \pm 0.3 \text{ mg/L}$ . Again, nitrate reduction rates did not significantly differ between batches of treatment 3 and 4 (t = 1.011, df = 2.065, p-value = 0.4155). Finally, all treatments significantly differed from treatment 5 (p-value < 0.01) with nitrate reduction rates of  $24.2 \pm 0.6 \text{ mg/L}$  and final nitrate concentrations of  $0.1 \pm 0.02 \text{ mg/L}$ . In contrast to the other treatments, a steep drop in concentration between day 0 and 2 followed by a gradual decline could be observed in this treatment.

With regard to DOC, no significant decline could be observed in treatment 1 to 4. Mean concentrations dropped  $0.16 \pm 0.13$ ,  $0.40 \pm 0.35$ ,  $0.48 \pm 0.42$  and  $0.43 \pm 0.38$  mg/L over seven days. Once again, treatment 5 differs from the rest and shows a steep drop between day 0 and 2, followed by a comparable gradient with other treatments between day 2 and 7. DOC concentrations declined by  $7.16 \pm 0.27$  mg/L with  $7.27 \pm 0.29$  mg/L remaining. No significant difference was found between treatment 1 and 2 (t = -1.0782,



FIGURE 6.8: Relation between dinitrogen increase and nitrate decrease. Linear regression of each treatment illustrated as dashed lines.

df = 2.602, p-value = 0.3706) or treatment 3 and 4 (t = 0.144, df = 3.96, p-value = 0.8925). However, all treatments differed from treatment 5 (p-value < 0.001).

All in all, a considerable decline in nitrate concentrations could be observed in each treatment. However, this decline did not coincide with the development of DOC concentrations which remained stable over time. Finally, rates differed significantly from the remaining treatments in treatment 5 which received additional DOC. In fact, a high decrease in nitrate and DOC concentrations was observed until day 2, followed by a gradual evolution comparable to treatment 1 to 4.

Figure 6.8 depicts the relation between nitrate-N decrease on the y-axis and dinitrogen-N increase on the x-axis. The coefficients from the calculated linear regression can be found in table 6.4. Based on the assumption of a linear relation between these two parameters, the deviation from a potential slope of -1 and the coefficient of determination  $r^2$ , can provide information about the processes.

TABLE 6.4: Coefficients from linear regression between nitrogen on thex-axis and nitrate on the y-axis (see figure 6.8).

Treatment	Slope	Intercept	$r^2$
1	-2.98	1.18E-05	0.81
2	-3.09	1.17E-05	0.84
3	-2.86	1.09E-05	0.86
4	-4.66	1.23E-05	0.96
5	-2.48	8.89E-06	0.62

It was assumed that the consumption of 1 mole nitrate-N would consequently result in the enrichment of 1 mole dinitrogen-N in the headspace. This would be described with a slope of -1. However, the deviation of all slopes differed significantly from -1(t=-11.2356, df=4, p-value < 0.001). Treatments 1 to 4 show a similar relation with gradually declining values at high nitrate and low nitrogen concentrations. However outlier at low nitrate and high nitrogen concentrations reduce the coefficient of determination  $r^2$  in treatment 1, 2, 3 and 5. These points origin from day 7 measurements where a strong increase of dinitrogen could be observed in figure 6.5. Without obvious outliers, the linear regression for treatment 4 reveals the highest accuracy with  $r^2 = 0.96$ .

Meanwhile, it seems that nitrate decreases about 2 to 5 times faster than nitrogen emerges. Furthermore, no relations between the slope and denitrification rates or batch setup could be drawn.

# **Chapter 7**

# Discussion

This research examined the limiting factors of denitrification in batch experiments and further, limitation of batch experiments itself. In particular, two series of measurements were conducted (i) to test the influence of nitrate, DOC and temperature on denitrification rates and (ii) to compare the spatial variability of denitrification rates with sediments from different depths.

# 7.1 Factors Limiting Denitrification Rates

Whether denitrification rates are limited by nitrate and DOC concentrations or temperature was examined in the first test described in section 6.1. Four different treatments were set up with 3 identical batches each (see section 5.2.1). Treatment 1 received 100 % of either DOC and nitrate. The specific amounts were calculated as they should represent non limiting conditions, thus potential denitrification rates. To compare the effect of DOC limitation, the DOC amendment was reduced to 25 % in treatment 2. Influence of temperature was observed by comparing treatment 2 (20°C) with treatment 3 (12°C). Treatment 4 mimics field conditions with 25 % of nitrate and DOC and a storage temperature comparable to the average groundwater temperature of 12°C. In direct comparison to treatment 3, the influence of reduced nitrate concentrations in treatment 4 can be observed.

As shown in section 6.1, a significant influence of temperature on denitrification rates was found. In particular, denitrification rates in treatment 2 (20°C, 0.019 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ ) were significantly higher (p-value < 0.01) than in treatment 3 (12°C, 0.010 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ ). This was confirmed by nitrate isotope data from the field site which indicated higher denitrification during summer months compared to winter (K. Knöller, personal communication). The finding was further supported by Lu et al. (2009), Pfenning and McMahon (1996) and Sirivedhin and Gray (2006) who found significantly higher denitrification rates at higher temperatures. Pfenning and McMahon (1996) for example, reported a decrease in denitrification rates of 77% resulting from a

temperature decrease from 22 to 4°C.

Surprisingly, no impact of tested nitrate or DOC contents on mean denitrification rates was observed. In fact, denitrification rates of treatment 1 and 2, and of treatment 3 and 4 were all in the same range and did not differ significantly.

Previous research by Lu et al. (2009), Addy et al. (2000) and Hoffmann et al. (2000) however, indicated the influence of DOC on denitrification rates. They reported that the addition of highly degradable DOC as acetate or glucose can significantly increase the denitrification potential in batch experiments.

The fact that no significant difference between treatments with variable DOC concentrations was found, can generally be explained by a nitrate limitation in treatment 1 from day 2. This can be seen in figure 6.3 which illustrates the evolution of nitrate and DOC in test-1. However, a faster increase of nitrogen production in treatment 1 compared to treatment 2 can be seen at the beginning of the experiment where both treatments had sufficient nitrate supply (see figure 6.1). Here, a significant difference between nitrogen production from treatment 1 and 2 was found on day 2 (t = 18.5509, df = 8.312, p-value < 0.001).

This leads to the assumption that DOC and nitrate might have an influence on denitrification rates which could not be explained in this study. Longer time series with comparable conditions in both treatments are required to provide more informative values about these limitation.

## 7.2 Spatial Variability of Denitrification Rates

Previous research has demonstrated that highest denitrification rates occur in transition zones, or "hot spots" (McClain et al., 2003). Therefore, samples from the saturated and the mixing zone were taken to examine the spatial variability of denitrification rates in the riparian zone.

The hypothesis of this study was that highest denitrification rates would occur in the prior mentioned mixing zones. This was confirmed (see section 6.2) and significantly higher (p-value < 0.01) denitrification rates were found in the mixing zone  $(0.0177 \pm 0.001 \,\mu\text{mol}\,\text{N}\,g^{-1}\,\text{soil}\,d^{-1})$  compared to the saturated zone  $(0.0088 \pm 0.004 \,\mu\text{mol}\,\text{N}\,g^{-1}\,\text{soil}\,d^{-1})$ . These findings are in accordance with data from Gassen et al. (2016), indicating lower nitrate concentrations and enriched nitrogen isotopes in the mixing zone (see figure 4.3).

A decrease in denitrification rates with depth was found by Hoffmann et al. (2000) and Woodward et al. (2009). However, they linked decreased denitrification rates with

lower DOC availability with depth and measurements were performed with a much lower vertical resolution. Thus, they compared unsaturated and saturated sediments. In contrast to test-1, no limitations in nitrate or DOC were detected. Both treatments from the mixing and saturated zone show a gradual decrease of nitrate and almost no changes in DOC concentrations (see figure 6.7).

## **7.3** Comparison with Literature Values

Table 7.1 compares denitrification rates from literature with values from this study. For comparison, all literature values were transformed into the unit  $\mu$ mol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ . First of all, this table demonstrates that all measured denitrification rates can be confirmed with literature values. Even if no comparable studies were found, all measured rates lie within the range of published studies. Furthermore, the relation between denitrification rates and spatial distribution was approved by significantly lower rates in the saturated zone. Though quantitative differences between calculated rates from the  ${}^{15}N$ and the  $NO_3^-$  method, both methods can be compared on a qualitative level. Qualitative comparison between saturated zone and mixed zone show around 50 % lower denitrification rates in the saturated zone. Unfortunately, a clear trend between denitrification rates and method or field site was not detected. Studies of Woodward et al. (2009) and Pinay et al. (1993) examined denitrification rates of riparian forests at the field site and in batch experiments using the acetylene inhibition method (AIM). However, they measured mean denitrification rates of 0.239 and 0.002  $\mu$ mol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ , respectively which is one of the highest rates compared to the second smallest rate. Mass balance approaches revealed highest rates, however, they rather represent nitrate removal rates than denitrification rates.

Further, the number of studies is limited due to missing values about the amount of used soil in many other studies. Often, denitrification rates are given in N per area over time, for example  $g N m^{-2} d^{-1}$ . This value can be transformed into the unit used in this study, if information about the surface of the experimental setup and either volume of sediments or sediment mass is provided. Unfortunately, many studies lack this information. In addition to that, the comparison of denitrification rates is always challenging. Taking all important parameters into account, there are very few studies using the same method, in the same ecosystem, in the same climate, during the same vegetation period and so forth.

All in all, this table illustrates the heterogeneity of denitrification measurements. Hence, the interpolation of rates to a method or a spatial unit is error-prone and not precise. Therefore, denitrification rates should be investigated at each specific field site, ideally in temporal and spatial extend to obtain detailed and precise information about the quantity of denitrification rates.

	$\mu$ mol N $g^{-1}$ soil $d^{-1}$ . Values sorted top-down by the mean rate. Meth-	
	ods from different studies like <sup>15</sup> N, mass balance approaches (MB) and acetylene inhibition methods (AIM).	
,	Method Min rate Max rate Mean rate Comment	

TABLE 71. Comparison of denitrification rates expresses as

Study	Method	Min rate	Max rate	Mean rate	Comment
Yeomans et al., 1992		0.0262	2.4810	1.2536	Arable field
Cooper, 1990	MB	0.0007	2.3143	1.1575	Riparian forest
Schipper et al., 1993	MB	0.7543	0.8914	0.8229	Riparian forest
Woodward et al., 2009	In-situ AIM	0.0643	0.4143	0.2393	Riparian forest
Warneke et al., 2011	AIM	0.1731	0.1841	0.1786	Denitrification bed
Pfenning et al., 1996	AIM	0.0700	0.2000	0.1350	Nitrate rich riverbed
Dodds and Jones, 1987	AIM	0.0065	0.2178	0.1122	Oligotrophic freshwater
Test-2, Treat. 5	MB	-	-	0.0837	Potential rate
Test-2, Treat. 1	MB	-	-	0.0690	Mixing zone, AGW
Test-1, Treat. 2	MB	-	-	0.0687	DOC limited
Test-2, Treat. 2	MB	-	-	0.0676	Mixing zone, GW
Test-1, Treat. 1	MB	-	-	0.0611	Potential rate
Test-1, Treat. 3	MB	-	-	0.0555	DOC, Temp limited
Test-1, Treat. 4	MB	-	-	0.0478	DOC, Temp, NO3 limited
Test-2, Treat. 3	MB	-	-	0.0406	Saturated zone, AGW
Clague et al., 2015	15N	0.0005	0.0686	0.0346	Dairying catchment
Test-2, Treat. 4	MB	-	-	0.0341	Saturated zone , GW
Test-2, Treat. 5	15N	0.0226	0.0298	0.0262	Potential rate
Mathieu et al., 2006	15N	0.0006	0.0423	0.0214	Arable field
Test-1, Treat. 2	15N	0.0156	0.0223	0.0189	DOC limited
Test-2, Treat. 1	15N	0.0152	0.0202	0.0177	Mixing zone, AGW
Test-1, Treat. 1	15N	0.0151	0.0186	0.0169	Potential rate
Test-2, Treat. 2	15N	0.0139	0.0188	0.0164	Mixing zone, GW
Test-1, Treat. 3	15N	0.0139	0.0166	0.0153	DOC, Temp limited
Lindau et al., 2011	15N	0.0068	0.0218	0.0143	River swamp
Silver et al., 2010	15N	0.0071	0.0214	0.0143	Tropical forest
Trauth et al., 2016	MB	-	-	0.0130	Riparian forest
Test-2, Treat. 3	15N	0.0097	0.0130	0.0113	Saturated zone, AGW
Test-1, Treat. 4	15N	0.0111	0.0090	0.0101	DOC, Temp, NO3 limited
Bateman and Baggs, 2005	AIM	0.0033	0.0143	0.0088	Arable field
Addy et al., 2000	In-situ 15N	0.0067	0.0088	0.0079	Riparian forest
Test-2, Treat. 4	15N	0.0052	0.0071	0.0062	Saturated zone, GW
Kellogg et al., 2005	In-situ 15N	0.0007	0.0084	0.0046	Riparian wetland
Pinay et al., 1993	AIM	0.0002	0.0039	0.0020	Riparian forest
Yang et al., 2014	15N	0.0011	0.0022	0.0017	Tropical forest
## 7.4 Limitations of Denitrification Experiments

#### 7.4.1 Batch Experiments

Batch experiments were conducted to determine denitrification rates under controlled conditions and investigate potential limiting factors. A major uncertainty of these findings is related to the inherent nature of batch experiments, initial conditions had to be changed. Even though batch conditions might represent in-situ conditions in chemical and physical matters, many parameters were altered with unknown consequences.

In particular, sediments were incubated with a groundwater medium which might not reflect the actual groundwater conditions. Furthermore, the water-sediment ratio was altered. Albeit, taking sediments from zones which were not limited in nitrate, it could not be excluded that amendments of labeled nitrate did not stimulate bacterial growth in the batches. The same accounts for DOC amendments. Bacterial growth would consequently result in higher denitrification rates and would not represent the processes in the field site. Furthermore, unlike natural conditions, strictly anoxic conditions were created in the batches. This would consequently enforce bacteria to denitrify which would therefore lead to overestimation of denitrification.

On the contrary, this study exclusively measured denitrification rates, excluding other nitrogen related processes like nitrification. To be precise, the calculation of total denitrification rates depends on the consumption of labeled nitrate, thereby neglecting additional nitrate sources. As a result, the labeled nitrate source depletes over time, thus leading to nitrate limited systems. Therefore, these batch experiments might underestimate denitrification rates in the riparian zone by excluding potential nitrate inputs.

#### 7.4.2 Differences between Methods

With regard to the the methods used in this study, differences in denitrification rates were found between the two different methods. Specifically, denitrification rates obtained from the decrease of nitrate in the liquid phase were around 3 - 4 times higher than results obtained from dinitrogen increase (see table 7.1). One assumption was that nitrate might diffuse into soil aggregates or bind with, or adsorb on some other substances thereby concealing from liquid sampling. However, this theory could be rejected as nitrate concentrations in the abiotic control did not decline over time. This led to the assumption of bacterial related processes causing the discrepancy.

Dissimilatory reduction of nitrate to ammonium (DNRA) was identified by Silver et al. (2010) to cause major losses of nitrate in denitrification experiments, accounting for

75 % of consumed nitrate. Rivett et al. (2008) emphasizes the role of DNRA in nitrate limited systems. Besides excess ammonium and limited nitrate concentrations, DNRA requires highly reducing conditions. These conditions were created by increasing the soil water content in the experiments. Thereby, representing a rather flooded riparian zone. As low nitrate contents were observed in treatment 1 and 4 from test-1, DNRA might explain some deviation.

Different approaches to describe the discrepancy between nitrate decrease and nitrogen increase could be bacterial assimilation of nitrate for the conversion into biomass (Woodward et al., 2009), the underestimation of denitrification rates due to missing NO and  $N_2O$  measurements (Rivett et al., 2008), or inaccuracy during the GC-MS calibration. In fact, the uncertainty of the headspace pressure evolution might play a major role in the underestimation of denitrification rates. Furthermore, the interpolation of  ${}^{28}N_2$  was based on the enrichment of labeled nitrate in the nitrate source pool after preparation and. Uncertainties derived from this measurements propagated and affected all future calculations. Furthermore, disregarding the fractionation effects would subsequently lead to the underestimation of produced  ${}^{28}N_2$  and thus underestimation of denitrification rates (Kendall and Mcdonnell, 1998).

### 7.4.3 DOC Amendments

DOC was added to some treatments to achieve conditions which were not limited in DOC and thus, would represent potential denitrification rates. Nevertheless, it was expected that DOC contents in the sediments would be high enough to facilitate denitrification under limited conditions. However, this was not the case in test-1. Here, around 11.7 mg/L of DOC was added as acetate to treatment 2-4 (see table 5.1) but DOC measurements shortly after the preparation showed concentrations below the amendment value (see batch 4-12 in table A.4). This implies that sediments did not contain considerable and measurable DOC and that DOC was consequently diluted by the residue groundwater from sediment pores. In contrast to test-1, the natural DOC concentrations in sediments from test-2 ranged between 5 and 10 mg/L. Thus, representing field conditions (see batch 1-12 in table A.4).

This difference can be caused by the different sediments sampling technique. Sediments from test-1 were collected from an in-stream gravel bank and from soil cores at the riparian zone. In contrast to test-2, where fresh sediments were used without further processing, sediments from test-1 were sieved and incubated in the groundwater. Furthermore, high concentration of iron oxides were present in the soil-groundwater continuum of test-1. These two factors might explain why natural DOC concentrations in test-1 were substantially smaller compared to test-2. First, DOC can be adsorbed on soil particles and by sieving the sediments, smaller soil fractions with comparatively high surface areas were removed. Thus, the available area for adsorption and eventually the amount of DOC in the sediments was reduced (Jardine et al., 1989; Davis, 1982). Secondly, Gu et al. (1995) reported that natural organic matter can adsorb on iron oxide surfaces where they are strongly bound. This can be applied to test-1 as the metal soil tubes were extremely covered with oxidized iron. As a result, organic carbon was not reversely adsorbed to the soil and available during the experiments, but bound to the iron oxides at the metal tube or as inactive complexes in the groundwater. To conclude, the approach of incubating sediments in groundwater might have influenced the conditions in test-1 because fine particles were removed from the sediments and further effects from iron oxidation might have influenced DOC availability.

The second uncertainty is related to the steep decline of concentration that can be observed in all treatments from test-1 (see figure 6.3) and in treatment 5 from test-2 (see figure 6.7). These were treatments substantially amended with DOC (acetate). Obvious differences in DOC variability over time in the different treatments were observed in test-2. Treatments 1 to 4 received only minor DOC additions in comparison the treatment 5. Treatments 1 to 4 show no significant decrease over the course of 7 days (see treatment 1-4 in figure 6.7) but varying concentrations were observed with minor increase and decrease. In treatment 5, however, a sharp decline was observed until day 2. Later, the concentrations remained constant for the rest of the experiment. The steep decline in treatment 5 cannot be found in other treatments from test-2, but remarkably coincides with curves from test-1. While in test-1 acetate was the sole source for DOC, treatments in test-2 contained natural organic carbon and only treatment 5 received considerable additional DOC amendments of around 5.7 mg/L (see table 5.2). It appears that all treatments with DOC amendments show a fast consumption of the added acetate. In fact, treatment 5 received 5.7 mg/L of acetate and 6.7 mg/L of DOC were consumed during the first two days. After the consumption of this additional DOC source, bacteria might switch back to natural DOC, resulting in much smaller denitrification rates (see treatment 5 in figure 6.7).

The consumption of artificial DOC as acetate seems to facilitate much higher nitrate removal rates than organic carbon from the field site. This assumption is supported by Sirivedhin and Gray (2006) and Pfenning and McMahon (1996). They state that the addition of highly degradable acetate supports significantly higher denitrification rates than amendments of DOC as phenol or humic acid. Furthermore, Pfenning and McMahon (1996) reported that organic carbon derived from surface water might be



FIGURE 7.1: Phases of denitrification in batch experiments by Groffman et al. (1999).

more labile compared to sedimentary carbon. The addition of DOC as acetate in batch experiments will consequently lead to overestimation of denitrification rates.

#### 7.4.4 Interpretation

One main objective in this study was the quantification of denitrification rates in batch experiments. Therefore, the increase of  $N_2$  in the headspace was measured and compared to the decrease of nitrate. The decrease of nitrate, however, might not represent denitrification rates as it integrates nitrate removal from the assimilation of N into biomass and respiration of N during denitrification.

Intentionally, it was planned to measure rates representing the initial bacterial communities, thus respiration without significant assimilation. A schematic approach by Groffman et al. (1999) can be seen in figure 7.1 and shows interpretations for different phases during denitrification in batch experiments. Compared to the results from figure 6.1 and 6.5, this schematic approach helps to identify the processes during denitrification in test-1 and test-2.

The phases shown in this figure could be adopted for this study as follows: Phase A, a lag phase between day 0 and 1. During this phase the bacterial community adopts to new conditions without significant production of dinitrogen. Phase B, a linear phase of denitrification between day 1 and depending on the treatment day 2 (treatment 1 and 2) or 4 (treatment 3 and 4). The decreased rate between day 2 and 4, in treatment 1 and

2, would represent phase C, the nitrate depletion phase, during which denitrification is limited by nitrate concentrations. In fact, this phase describes the depleting phase in treatment 1 from test-1. However, this theory cannot be adopted for test-2 as nitrate levels range still between 25 and 15 mg/L (see figure 6.7).

As an alternative for phase C, they present phase D, the oxygen depletion phase with increased rates in contrast to phase B. This would require residue oxygen in the batches after preparation which was consumed between day 0 and 4 in test-2. Therefore, this phase would imply insufficient outgassing with the Ar- $CO_2$  mixture during batch preparation and high residue  $O_2$  concentrations at day 0. This scenario would imply that residue oxygen was consumed until day 4 which would consequently lead to limited denitrification rates. In this scenario, actual denitrification rates would have been measured from day 4 and phase D would represent these denitrification rates.

On the other hand, the increased dinitrogen production from day 4 could also be the result of bacterial growth, stimulated by nitrate and DOC amendments. If this was the case, rates between day 4 and 7 would falsify actual denitrification rates, with consequential overestimation of denitrification rates.

As no evidence for either process C or D could be found in the current study, it was assumed that rates between day 0 and 7 would generally describe denitrification rates the best. Thus, factors such as bacterial growth and inadequate aerobic conditions were neglected due to missing evidence. However, oxygen saturation and bacterial activity should be investigated in future studies.

## 7.5 Implications

Denitrification rates obtained in this study revealed comparable denitrification rates to field experiments by Trauth et al. (2016) at the field site. Nixdorf and Trauth (2016) investigated the hydraulic conductivity at the field site. With this information about flow rate and travel time and conceptualized denitrification kinetics from different studies, a first model approach approximated the nitrate removal function of this riparian zone.

Furthermore, higher denitrification rates were measured in the mixing zone which is supported by results from Gassen et al. (2016). In fact, this implies the overall possibility and reliability of batch experiments to determine representative denitrification rates. Significant influence of temperature on denitrification rates was detected which is in accordance with nitrate isotope data from the field site. The data indicated higher denitrification rates during summer months compared to winter (K. Knöller, personal communication). The influence of temperature should be considered in future experiments to classify results with regard to seasonality and temperature gradients in the soil. Moreover, significantly higher denitrification rates were found in the mixing zone, indicating a vertical gradient of denitrification potential in the soil-groundwater continuum. Incorporating these findings into hydrological denitrification models could therefore approve the accuracy of denitrification rates in specific zones.

Results from this study, from observation wells (Trauth et al., 2016) and from multi-level wells (Gassen et al., 2016) suggest high nitrate turnover rates for the field site. Therefore, this riparian zone should be maintained and protected to conserve the inherent ecosystem services. However, new studies should be performed to validate this study and especially because spatial variability on a horizontal level remains unknown.

## 7.6 Outlook

Future research should attempt to clarify the potential for denitrification at the field site. The use of multi-level wells and a large amount of observation wells facilitate high resolution tracer tests at the field site (Addy et al., 2000). More batch experiments should be conducted to obtain high resolution data about vertical and horizontal variability of denitrification rates which can be incorporated into heterogeneity models.

To improve future batch experiments, batches should be sacrificed after each day. This would imply to create one batch per day and treatment assuming that conditions in each batch would be the same. However, this would require a lot of sediment from each spatial unit and the amendment of more tracer in total. Even though it would not be possible to measure the increase of nitrogen in one batch over time, sacrificing batches would not interfere with the batch ecosystems and could produce undisturbed results. Furthermore, as batches would be sacrificed after each measurement, this method would allow detailed sampling of sediment and solution each day. Hence, it would facilitate to measure oxygen saturation, nitrate isotopes, headspace pressure or bacterial activity. Oxygen saturation would provide information if favourable conditions for denitrification would be present. Sampling of nitrate isotopes would allow to calculate denitrification rates via isotope pairing method. Headspace pressure measurements would help to improve the accuracy of GC-MS calibrations. Finally, bacterial activity would state whether the bacterial community would represent in-situ conditions. Due to the limited amount of sediment and solution in this study and the large impact on the batches, we were unable to measure these important parameters.

Furthermore, batches should be stored and transported at their respective temperature, especially during GC-MS measurements. Thus, avoiding unnecessarily increasing the batch temperature which evidently influences denitrification rates. Here, the use of a cooler is suggested to keep the batches at constant temperature between duplicate measurements. If possible, IC measurements should be performed on a daily basis to analyze residue nitrate concentrations in the batches. GC-MS measurements should subsequently continue until the nitrate pool is depleted. Unfortunately, this was impossible for this study and GC-MS measurements had to stop at a point where dinitrogen concentrations increased steeply.

## Chapter 8

## Conclusions

Overall, this study demonstrated the feasibility of batch experiments for the determination of denitrification rates in a riparian zone. Two experiments were conducted to determine (i) potential denitrification rates and limitations and (ii) actual denitrification rates and spatial heterogeneity. A  ${}^{15}NO_3^-$  tracer was applied to sediments and  ${}^{15}N$  was subsequently quantified in the headspace. This method was further validated with nitrate and DOC measurements from the liquid phase.

Temperature was identified as a limiting factor for denitrification and substantially higher rates were found at 20°C compared to 12°C, with 0.019 and 0.015 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ , respectively. No limiting influences of nitrate and DOC concentrations were found in this study. However, this was caused by the experimental setup and results indicated that both, nitrate and DOC might limit denitrification rates under different conditions. A vertical heterogeneity of denitrification rates was found in the second test where sediments from the mixing zone and from the saturated zone were compared. With 0.017 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ , denitrification rates in the mixing zone were significantly higher than rates from the saturated zone with 0.009 µmol N  $g^{-1}$  soil  $d^{-1}$ .

Measured rates were in the same order of magnitude with literature values for comparable study sites. Moreover, the results from this study were comparable to prior studies from the field site which identified the mixing zone as a "hot spot" for nitrate removal, higher denitrification rates during summer months and particularly, measured similar denitrification rates with a mass balance approach. Nevertheless, a difference between the headspace and mass balance approach was found with 3-4 times larger denitrification rates in the mass balance approach. In this case, however, the mass balance approach represents a multitude of different nitrate removal processes and not only denitrification which eventually results in higher nitrate removal.

Two problems concerning the quality and quantity of DOC were identified in this study. First, sediments from the first test were sieved and small fractions were removed.

This can explain why sediments did not contain substantial DOC concentrations. Secondly, DOC was amended as acetate which is more labile compared to natural organic carbon led to the overestimation of denitrification rates in certain treatments.

However, if validated with in-situ measurements, batch experiments from this study can provide considerable information as they measured high resolution denitrification rates under controlled conditions. According to Groffman et al. (2009), a deficit in denitrification data restricts the implementation of heterogeneity models for upscaling of denitrification rates. Therefore, the urge for more data is unambiguous. Future studies should consequently focus on the understanding of spatial variability on different scales. Horizontal transects from field to stream, and high resolution vertical transects from unsaturated to saturated zone could provide useful information

## **Bibliography**

- Addy, K. et al. (2000). "In situ push-pull method to determine ground water denitrification in riparian zones." In: *Journal of environmental quality* 31.3, pp. 1017–1024. DOI: 10.2134/jeq2002.1017.
- Bannick, C. et al. (2008). "Grundwasser in Deutschland". In: *Grundwasser in Deutschland*, p. 72.
- Bateman, E. J. and E. M. Baggs (2005). "Contributions of nitrification and denitrification to N2O emissions from soils at different water-filled pore space". In: *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 41.6, pp. 379–388. DOI: 10.1007/s00374-005-0858-3.
- BfJ (2009). Gesetz zur Ordnung des Wasserhaushalts (Wasserhaushaltsgesetz WHG). Tech. rep., p. 52.
- Boast, C. W. et al. (1988). "Evaluation of Nitrogen-15 Tracer Techniques for Direct Measurement of Denitrification in Soil: I. Theory". In: *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 52.5, pp. 1317–1322. DOI: 10.2136/sssaj1988.03615995005200050020x.
- Butterbach-Bahl, K and G Willibald (2002). "Soil core method for direct simultaneous determination of N 2 and N 2 O emissions from forest soils". In: *Plant and Soil*, pp. 105–116. DOI: 10.1023/A:1015870518723.
- Cannavo, P. et al. (2004). "Fate of nitrogen and carbon in the vadose zone: In situ and laboratory measurements of seasonal variations in aerobic respiratory and denitrifying activities". In: *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 36.3, pp. 463–478. DOI: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2003.10.023.
- Cey, E. E. et al. (1999). "Role of the riparian zone in controlling the distribution and fate of agricultural nitrogen near a small stream in southern Ontario". In: *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology* 37.1-2, pp. 45–67. DOI: 10.1016/S0169-7722(98) 00162-4.
- Christensen, P. B. et al. (1990). "Denitrification in nitrate-rich streams: Diurnal and seasonal variation related to benthic oxygen metabolism". In: *Limnology and Oceanography* 35.3, pp. 640–651. DOI: 10.4319/10.1990.35.3.0640.
- Clague, J. et al. (2015). "Denitrification in the shallow groundwater system of a lowland catchment: A laboratory study". In: *CATENA* 131, pp. 109–118. DOI: 10.1016/j.catena.2015.03.012.
- Clark, I. D. and P. Fritz (1997). *Environmental Isotopes in Hydrogeology*. 2nd ed. CRC press, p. 328.

- Cooper, A. B. (1990). "Nitrate depletion in the riparian zone and stream channel of a small headwater catchment". In: *Hydrobiologia* 202.1-2, pp. 13–26. DOI: 10.1007/BF00027089.
- Dalsgaard, T. et al. (2000). *Protocol handbook for NICE-nitrogen cycling in estuaries*. Mast Iii. Ministry of Environment and Energy, p. 64.
- Davis, J. a. (1982). "Adsorption of natural dissolved organic matter at the oxide/water interface". In: *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 46.11, pp. 2381–2393. DOI: 10. 1016/0016-7037(82)90209-5.
- Demoling, F. et al. (2007). "Comparison of factors limiting bacterial growth in different soils". In: *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 39.10, pp. 2485–2495. DOI: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.05.002.
- Dodds, W. K. and R. D. Jones (1987). "Potential rates of nitrification and denitrification in an oligotrophic freshwater sediment system". In: *Microbial Ecology* 14.1, pp. 91– 100. DOI: 10.1007/BF02011574.
- Domenico, P. A. and F. W. Schwartz (1990). *Physical and Chemical Hydrogeology*. 2nd ed. John Wiley & Sons, p. 824.
- Erisman, J. W. et al. (2008). "How a century of ammonia synthesis changed the world". In: *Nature Geoscience* 1, pp. 636–639.
- EU-Commission (2013). "Report from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on the Implementation of Council Directive 91/676/EEC concerning the protection of waters against pollution caused by nitrates from agricultural sources based on Member State reports fo". In:
- Evsbech, N. P. and J. Sørensen (1990). "Denitrification in Soil and Sediment". In: *Denitrification in Soil and Sediment*. Ed. by D. D. Myrold. Plenum Pre. Chap. Measuring.
- Galloway, J. N. et al. (2004). *Nitrogen cycles: Past, present, and future*. Vol. 70. 2, pp. 153–226. DOI: 10.1007/s10533-004-0370-0.
- Galloway, J. N. et al. (2008). "Transformation of the nitrogen cycle: recent trends, questions, and potential solutions." In: *Science* 320.5878, pp. 889–892. DOI: 10. 1126/science.1136674.
- Gassen, N. et al. (2016). "New insights into the fate of nitrate at the Soil Groundwater interface of riparian corridors by using a novel high resolution monitoring system". In: *Congress of the German Association of Hydrogeologists*.
- Gold, A. J. et al. (1998). "Patchiness in Groundwater Nitrate Removal in a Riparian Forest". In: *Journal of Environment Quality* 27.1, pp. 146–155. doi: 10.2134/jeq1998.00472425002700010021x.
- Groenigen, J. W. van et al. (2015). "The soil N cycle: new insights and key challenges". In: *Soil* 1, pp. 235–256. DOI: 10.5194/soil-1-235-2015.

- Groffman, P. M. et al. (1999). "Denitrification". In: *Methods for Long-Term Ecological Research*. Ed. by P. G. Robertson et al. Oxford University Press. Chap. 14, pp. 272–290.
- Groffman, P. M. et al. (2006). "Methods for Measuring Denitrification : Diverse Approaches to a Difficult Problem". In: *Ecological Applications* 16.6, pp. 2091–2122.
- Groffman, P. M. et al. (2009). "Challenges to incorporating spatially and temporally explicit phenomena (hotspots and hot moments) in denitrification models". In: *Biogeochemistry* 93.1-2, pp. 49–77. DOI: 10.1007/s10533-008-9277-5.
- Gu, B. et al. (1995). "Adsorption and desorption of different organic matter fractions on iron oxide". In: *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 59.2, pp. 219–229. DOI: 10.1016/0016-7037(94)00282-Q.
- Hart, S. C. and D. D. Myrold (1996). "15N Tracer Studies of Soil Nitrogen Transformations". In: *Mass Spectrometry of Soils*. Ed. by T. W. Boutton and S.-i. Yamasaki. Marcel Dekker. Chap. 15N Tracer, pp. 225–245.
- Hauck, R. D. and S. W. Melsted (1955). "Some Aspects of the Problem of Evaluating Denitrification in Soils". In: Soil Science Society Proceedings, pp. 361–364. DOI: nichtverf{\"{u}}gbar?.
- Hauck, R. D. et al. (1958). "Use of N\_Isotope Distribution in Nitrogen Gas in the Study of Denitrification". In: *Soil Science* 86, pp. 287–291.
- Hill, A. R. et al. (2000). "Subsurface denitrification in a forest riparianzone: Interactions between hydrology and supplies ofnitrate and organic carbon". In: *Biogeochemistry* 51.2, pp. 193–223. DOI: 10.1023/a:1006476514038.
- Hoffmann, C. C. et al. (2000). "Denitrification Rates Predicted by Nitrogen-15 Labeled Nitrate Microcosm Studies, In Situ Measurements, and Modeling". In: *Journal of Environment Quality* 29.6, pp. 2020–2028. DOI: 10.2134/jeq2000. 00472425002900060040x.
- Holtappels, M. et al. (2010). "15N-labeling experiments to dissect the contributions of heterotrophic denitrification and anammox to nitrogen removal in the OMZ waters of the ocean". In: *Methods in Enzymology* 486.C, pp. 223–251. DOI: 10.1016/B978–0-12-381294–0.00010–9.
- James, C. et al. (2005). "Nitrate availability and hydrophyte species richness in shallow lakes". In: *Freshwater Biology* 50.6, pp. 1049–1063. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365–2427.2005.01375.x.
- Jardine, P. M. et al. (1989). "Mechanisms of Dissolved Organic Carbon Adsorption on Soil". In: *Soil Science Society of America* 53.5.

- Kellogg, D. Q. et al. (2005). "In situ ground water denitrification in stratified, permeable soils underlying riparian wetlands". In: *Journal of Environmental Quality* 34.2, pp. 524–533. DOI: 10.2134/jeq2005.0524.
- Kendall, C. and J. J. Mcdonnell (1998). *Isotope Tracers in Catchment Hydrology*. 1st ed. Elsevier Science B.V., p. 838.
- Kulkarni, M. V. et al. (2014). "Direct flux and 15N tracer methods for measuring denitrification in forest soils". In: *Biogeochemistry* 117.2-3, pp. 359–373. DOI: 10. 1007/s10533-013-9876-7.
- LHW (2008). Oberflächenwasserkörper (OWK) Bewertung Komponenten für den/das Ökol. Zustand/Potenzial Bewertung nach WRRL-VO LSA. Tech. rep., pp. 764–834.
- Lindau, C. W. et al. (2011). "Comparison of 15N2 flux and acetylene inhibition denitrification methods in Atchafalaya River basin sediments". In: *Journal of Freshwater Ecology* 26.3, pp. 337–344. DOI: 10.1080/02705060.2011.557480.
- Lowrance, R. et al. (1997). "Water quality functions of riparian forest buffers in Chesapeake bay watersheds". In: *Environmental Management* 21.5, pp. 687–712. DOI: 10.1007/s002679900060.
- Lu, S. et al. (2009). "Effect of carbon source on the denitrification in constructed wetlands". In: *Journal of Environmental Sciences* 21.8, pp. 1036–1043. DOI: 10.1016/S1001-0742(08)62379-7.
- Maître, V. et al. (2003). "Effectiveness of groundwater nitrate removal in a river riparian area: The importance of hydrogeological conditions". In: *Journal of Hydrology* 278.1-4, pp. 76–93. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-1694 (03) 00134-3.
- Mariotti, A. (1983). "Atmospheric nitrogen is a reliable standard for natural 15N abundance measurements". In: *Nature* 303.23, pp. 685–687.
- Martin, T. L. et al. (1999). "Review: Denitrification in temperate climate riparian zones". In: *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution* 111, pp. 171–186. DOI: 10.1023/A: 1005015400607.
- Mathieu, O. et al. (2006). "Quantifying the contribution of nitrification and denitrification to the nitrous oxide flux using 15N tracers". In: *Environmental Pollution* 144.3, pp. 933–940. DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2006.02.005.
- Mayer, P. M. et al. (2005). *Riparian Buffer Width, Vegetative Cover, and Nitrogen Removal Effectiveness: A review of current science and regulations.* Tech. rep., p. 40.
- Mayer, P. M. et al. (2007). "Meta-analysis of nitrogen removal in riparian buffers." In: *Journal of environmental quality* 36.4, pp. 1172–1180. DOI: 10.2134/jeq2006. 0462.

- McClain, M. E. et al. (2003). "Biogeochemical Hot Spots and Hot Moments at the Interface of Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecosystems". In: *Ecosystems* 6.4, pp. 301–312. DOI: 10.1007/s10021-003-0161-9.
- Mortimer, C. E. (2001). *Das Basiswissen der Chemie*. 7th ed. Georg Thieme Verlag, p. 744.
- Nixdorf, E. and N. Trauth (2016). "Evaluating the reliability of cross-correlation method to estimate riparian travel times under time variant hydraulic gradients". In: *River Research and Applications* Under Revi, p. 24.
- Pfenning, K. S. and P. B. McMahon (1996). "Effect of nitrate, organic carbon, and temperature on potential denitrification rates in nitrate-rich riverbed sediments". In: *Journal of Hydrology* 187, pp. 283–295.
- Pinay, G. et al. (1993). "Spatial and temporal patterns of denitrification in a riparian forest". In: *Journal of Applied Ecology* 30.4, pp. 581–591.
- Pinay, G. et al. (2015). "Upscaling Nitrogen Removal Capacity from Local Hotspots to Low Stream Orders' Drainage Basins". In: *Ecosystems* 18.6, pp. 1101–1120. doi: 10.1007/s10021-015-9878-5.
- Ranalli, A. J. and D. L. Macalady (2010). "The importance of the riparian zone and in-stream processes in nitrate attenuation in undisturbed and agricultural watersheds
  A review of the scientific literature". In: *Journal of Hydrology* 389.3-4, pp. 406–415. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2010.05.045.
- Rassam, D. et al. (2006). "The hydrology of riparian buffer zones; two case studies in an ephemeral and a perennial stream". In: *Journal of Hydrology* 325.1-4, pp. 308–324. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2005.10.023.
- Reed, S. C. et al. (2011). "Functional Ecology of Free-Living Nitrogen Fixation: A Contemporary Perspective". In: *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 42, pp. 489–512. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102710-145034.
- Riemer, J. et al. (2004). "Colorimetric ferrozine-based assay for the quantitation of iron in cultured cells". In: *Analytical Biochemistry* 331.2, pp. 370–375. DOI: 10.1016/ j.ab.2004.03.049.
- Rivett, M. O. et al. (2008). "Nitrate attenuation in groundwater: A review of biogeochemical controlling processes". In: *Water Research* 42.16, pp. 4215–4232. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2008.07.020.
- Russow, R et al. (1996). "Accuracy and Precision for Measurements of the Mass Ratio 30/28 in Dinitrogen from Air Samples and its Application to the Investigation of N Losses from Soil by Denitrification". In: *Isotopes in Environmental and Health Studies* 32.2-3, pp. 289–297. DOI: 10.1080/10256019608036322.

- Ryden, J. C. (1983). "Denitrification Loss from a Grassland Soil in the Field Receiving Different Rates of Nitrogen as Ammonium-Nitrate". In: *Journal of Soil Science* 34.2, pp. 355–365. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365–2389.1983.tb01041.x.
- Sander, R. (2015). "Compilation of Henry's law constants (version 4.0) for water as solvent". In: *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* 15.8, pp. 4399–4981. DOI: 10. 5194/acp-15-4399-2015.
- Saunders, D. L. and J. Kalff (2001). "Nitrogen retention in wetlands, lakes and rivers". In: *Hydrobiologia* 443, pp. 205–212. DOI: 10.1023/A:1017506914063.
- Schachtschabel, P. et al. (1998). *Scheffer/Schachtschabel: Lehrbuch der Bodenkunde*. 14th ed. Ferdinand Enke Verlag, p. 494.
- Schipper, L. A. et al. (1993). "Regulators of denitrification in an organic riparian soil". In: *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 25.7, pp. 925–933. DOI: 10.1016/0038-0717(93)90095-S.
- Schuetz, T. et al. (2015). "Nitrate sinks and sources as controls of spatio-temporal water quality dynamics in an agricultural headwater catchment". In: *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions* 12.8, pp. 8577–8614. DOI: 10.5194/hessd-12-8577-2015.
- Seitzinger, S. et al. (2006). "Denitrification across Landscapes and Waterscapes: A Synthesis". In: *Ecological Applications* 16.6, pp. 2064–2090. doi: 10.1890/1051-0761(2006)016[2064:DALAWA]2.0.CO;2.
- Seitzinger, S. P. et al. (2002). "Nitrogen retention in rivers: model development and application to watersheds in the northeastern U.S.A." In: *The Nitrogen Cycle at Regional to Global Scales* Chapter 6, pp. 199–237. DOI: 10.1023/A:1015745629794.
- Silver, W. L. et al. (2010). "Dissimilatory Nitrate Reduction to Ammonium in Upland Tropical Forest Soils". In: *Reports Ecology* 82.9, pp. 2410–2416. doi: 10.2307/ 2679925.
- Singer, G. and C. Karwautz (2014). Introduction to Statistics. Tech. rep., p. 147.
- Sirivedhin, T. and K. A. Gray (2006). "Factors affecting denitrification rates in experimental wetlands: Field and laboratory studies". In: *Ecological Engineering* 26.2, pp. 167–181. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2005.09.001.
- Spott, O and C. F. Stange (2011). "Formation of hybrid N2O in a suspended soil due to co-denitrification of NH2OH". In: *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 174.4, pp. 554–567. DOI: 10.1002/jpln.201000200.
- Spott, O. and C. F. Stange (2007). "A new mathematical approach for calculating the contribution of anammox, denitrification and atmosphere to an N 2 mixture based on a 15 N tracer technique". In: 2, pp. 2398–2406. DOI: 10.1002/rcm.

- Steingruber, S. M. et al. (2001). "Measurement of Denitrification in Sediments with the 15N Isotope Pairing Technique". In: *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 67.9, pp. 3771–3778. DOI: 10.1128/AEM.67.9.3771.
- Stoewer, M. et al. (2015). "Tracing freshwater nitrate sources in pre-alpine groundwater catchments using environmental tracers". In: *Journal of Hydrology* 524, pp. 753–767. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.03.022.
- Stookey, L. L. (1970). "Ferrozine a new spectrophotometric reagent for iron". In: *Analytical Chemistry* 42.7, pp. 779–781. DOI: 10.1021/ac60289a016.
- Stumm, W. and J. J. Morgan (1996). Aquatic Chemistry, Chemical Equilibria and Rates in Natural Waters. Ed. by J. L. Schnoor and A. Zehnder. 3rd ed. John Wiley & Sons, p. 1022.
- Sutton, M. A. et al. (2011). "Too much of a good thing." In: *Nature* 472.7342, pp. 159–161. DOI: 10.1038/472159a.
- Thamdrup, B. and T. Dalsgaard (2002). "Production of N2 through anaerobic ammonium oxidation coupled to nitrate reduction in marine sediments". In: *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 68.3, pp. 1312–1318. DOI: 10.1128/AEM.68.3.1312–1318.2002.
- Thurman, E. M. (1985). *Organic Geochemistry of Natural Waters*. Kluwer Academic, p. 497. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-009-5095-5.
- Trauth, N. et al. (2013). "Coupled 3-D stream flow and hyporheic flow model under varying stream and ambient groundwater flow conditions in a pool-riffle system".
  In: *Water Resources Research* 49.9, pp. 5834–5850. DOI: 10.1002/wrcr.20442.
- Trauth, N. et al. (2014). "Hyporheic transport and biogeochemical reactions in poolriffle systems under varying ambient groundwater flow conditions". In: *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences* 119.5, pp. 910–928. DOI: 10.1002/ 2013JG002586.
- Trauth, N. et al. (2015). "Hydraulic controls of in-stream gravel bar hyporheic exchange and reactions". In: *Water Resources Research* 51, pp. 2243–2263. DOI: 10.1002/2014WR015857.Received.
- Trauth, N. et al. (2016). "Raum- und Zeitmuster der Nitrat- und Ionenkonzentrationen in der Übergangszone zwischen Fluss und Grundwasser". In: *Congress of the German Association of Hydrogeologists.*
- Vidon, P. and A. R. Hill (2004). "Denitrification and patterns of electron donors and acceptors in eight riparian zones with contrasting hydrogeology". In: *Biogeochemistry* 71.2, pp. 259–283. DOI: 10.1007/s10533-004-9684-1.
- Volterra, L et al. (2002). "Eutrophication and Health". In: pp. 1–32.

- Warneke, S. et al. (2011). "A comparison of different approaches for measuring denitrification rates in a nitrate removing bioreactor". In: *Water Research* 45.14, pp. 4141– 4151. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2011.05.027.
- WHO (2011). *Nitrate and nitrite in drinking-water: WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality*. Tech. rep., pp. 1–31.
- Woodward, K. B. et al. (2009). "Nitrate removal, denitrification and nitrous oxide production in the riparian zone of an ephemeral stream". In: *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 41.4, pp. 671–680. DOI: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.01.002.
- Wrage, N. et al. (2001). "Role of nitrifier denitrification in the production of nitrous oxide". In: Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33.12-13, pp. 1723–1732. DOI: 10. 1016/S0038-0717 (01) 00096-7.
- Yang, W. H. et al. (2014). "New high precision approach for measuring 15N-N2 gas fluxes from terrestrial ecosystems". In: *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 69, pp. 234– 241. DOI: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.11.009.
- Yeomans, J. C. et al. (1992). "Denitrification capacity and denitrification potential of subsurface soils". In: *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* 23.9-10, pp. 919–927. DOI: 10.1080/00103629209368639.
- Zhou, Y. et al. (2012). "Spatio-temporal patterns of microbial communities in a hydrologically dynamic pristine aquifer". In: *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 81.1, pp. 230–242. DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2012.01371.x.
- Zsolnay, A. (2003). "Dissolved organic matter: Artefacts, definitions, and functions". In: *Geoderma* 113.3-4, pp. 187–209. DOI: 10.1016/S0016-7061(02)00361-0.

## **Appendix A**

## **Appendix - Additional Information**

### A.1 Pre-Experiments and Stock Solution Preparation

Pre-experiments were conducted to get information about the optimal amount of sediment as well as optimal DOC and nitrate concentrations. Thus, pre-experiments consisted of several measurement series with varying amounts of sediment, DOC and nitrate. Furthermore, containers, syringes and septa were compared for best feasibility during measurements.

#### A.1.1 Influence of Headspace Volume

The effects of different headspace volumes were tested using different sized serum bottles (see figure 5.1), filled with identical volumes of sediment and liquid, resulting in different headspace volumes. Preliminary results of multiple replicate measurements show evidence to suggest a higher accuracy as well as a higher detection limit at smaller headspace volumes. Due to the limited amount of sediment, 100 ml serum bottles were used for further experiments resulting in a headspace volume between 30 and 41 ml.

#### A.1.2 Syringes and Injection Volume

To minimize contamination with ambient air during the injection, different syringes as well as different injection techniques were tested. The *VICI Precision Sampling A-2* syringe was chosen for further measurements. This syringe was especially designed for high pressure gas sampling and is equipped with a push-button valve to lock in the sample. Furthermore, all parts were replaceable and easy to repair, allowing constant maintenance to keep the quality of the measurements high over time. To avoid the puncture of the septa, side-port needles with a cone tip were used. Furthermore, the injection of 20  $\mu$ L gas sample produced convincing results in the GC-MS. The amount was large enough to detect small changes in concentrations. Furthermore, the readability of the syringe was convincing for 20  $\mu$ L and allowed precise adjustment of this volume.

#### A.1.3 Septa

The air tightness of the experimental setup and precision of the measurements were improved by changing the different septa on a regular basis. For instance, the septa at the injector was changed before each series of measurements and the septa of the pressure reducer (STD) was changed as soon as a drop in chamber pressure was observed between two measurements. The batches were sealed using gas tight rubber septa and aluminum seal crimps. To yield a higher durability of the septa, each injection was performed on a different spot of the septa and the use of side-port needles with cone tips was preferred to bevel tips. Additionally, the septa was compacted after each measurement by pressing and rolling to a solid surface like the lab bench. Afterwards, tightness was checked visually by controlling the bulge of the septa which indicated overpressure inside the batches. Furthermore, all instrumental interfaces were checked for air leaks with leak detection spray.

#### A.1.4 Stock Solution Preparation

Stock solutions of sodium acetate and labeled potassium nitrate were prepared and stored for future measurements. Basic calculations for the preparation of stock solutions will be explained by the following equations in this section. A comparison of cation and anion concentrations in groundwater and artificial groundwater can be found in table A.1.

Following equation A.1, 1 gram of labeled potassium nitrate was dissolved in 9.7943 ml MQ to obtain a 1 mol stock solution.

$$m = McV \tag{A.1}$$

with *m*, mass [g], *M*, molar mass [g/mol], *c*, concentration [mol/L], V, volume [L]

For further application the solution was diluted 1:10 to receive 10 ml of a 0.1 mol solution by using equation A.3. Hereafter, the solution was stored in *Eppendorf* tubes at  $-20^{\circ}$ C for future application. The production of the sodium acetate stock solution was conducted likewise. However, this solution was filtered prior to storage using 0.45 µm filters, attached to sterile syringes, and was stored in sterile *Falcon* tubes.

Studies by Clague et al. (2015) and Cannavo et al. (2004) suggested the application of 1 to  $200 \,\mu g^{15} N g^{-1}$  soil. The amount of  $10 \,\mu g^{15} N g^{-1}$  soil used by Clague et al. (2015) was finally chosen as it further represents the current groundwater conditions in the study area. The required volume of the nitrate solution and the amount of moles were calculated using equation A.1 and equation A.2.

$$n = \frac{m}{M} \tag{A.2}$$

with **n**, number of moles, **m**, mass [g], **M**, molar mass [g/mol]

The total required amount of sodium acetate to facilitate a complete transformation from nitrate to dinitrogen was calculated in mole. The calculation from required moles to the respective volume of the sodium acetate solution was performed using equation A.2 and equation A.1.

	$Mg^{2+}$	$Ca^{2+}$	$Na^+$	$SO_{4}^{2-}$	$Cl^{-}$	$HCO_3^-$
GW [mmol/L]	0.617	3.000	1.304	0.521	0.423	3.000
AGW [mmol/L]	0.120	0.185	1.141	0.475	0.329	3.026

TABLE A.1: Composition of groundwater from the field site and stock solution of artificial groundwater. Comparison of main cations and anions.

Based on prior measured groundwater parameters of cations  $(Na^+, Mg^{2+}, Ca^{2+})$ and anions  $(SO_4^{2-}, HCO_3^-)$  artificial groundwater (AGW) was prepared. The required amount of each element was calculated (see equation A.2 and A.1) and the respective amounts of  $MgSO_4 \times 7 * H_2O$ ,  $Na_2SO_4$ ,  $CaCl_2 \times 2 * H_2O$  and  $NaHCO_3$  were diluted in MQ. Table A.1 shows groundwater concentrations from prior measurements compared to AGW.

The final solutions were prepared by mixing the nitrate stock solution with the sodium acetate stock solution and either artificial groundwater or groundwater. The final concentrations were calculated with equation A.3 and further validated with IC and DOC measurements. Concentrations of nitrate and DOC for the final solution from test-1 are documented in table 5.1 and for test-2 ind table 5.2.

$$c_1 V_1 = c_2 V_2$$
 (A.3)

with  $c_1$ , concentration of solution 1 [g/L],  $V_1$ , volume of solution 1 [L],  $c_2$ , concentration of solution 2 [g/L],  $V_2$ , volume of solution 2 [L]

## A.2 Chemicals and Materials

The following chapter will comprise chemicals and materials used in this study. Basic laboratory equipment is not listed.

### A.2.1 Chemicals

Table A.2 lists the most important chemicals used in this study.

Abb. or formula	Name	Company	Comments
HSG	20% <i>CO</i> <sub>2</sub> , rest Ar	Linde AG	
STD	$1\% N_2$ , $1\% CO_2$ , $0.5\% N_2O$ , rest Ar	Linde AG	
$MgSO_4 \ge 7 * H_2O$	Magnesium sulfate heptahydrate	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.: 63138
$Na_2SO_4$	Sodium sulfate	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.: 71962
$CaCl_2 \ge 2 * H_2O$	Calcium chloride dihydrate	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.: C5080
$NaHCO_3$	Sodium hydrogencarbonate	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.: 401676
$K^{15}NO_{3}$	Potassium nitrate- $^{15}N$	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.: 335134
$C_2H_3NaO_2$	Sodium acetate	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.: S2889
FERR	Ferrozine	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.: 82950
HAHCL	Hydroxylamin-HCl	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.: 238074
FE	Fe(II)sulphate heptahydrate	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.: 215422

TABLE A.2: Chemicals used in this study

#### A.2.2 Materials

Table A.3 lists the most important materials used in this study. Focus is set on consumable supplies and considerable equipment. Basic laboratory supplies like volumetric flasks, Eppendorf pipettes etc. are considered as basic requirements and not listed.

TABLE A.3: Materials used in this study

Name	Details	Company	Comments
Syringe 50µL	Vici high precision A-2	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.: 22269-U
Syringe 100µL	Vici high precision A-2	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.: 22270-U
Serum vials	N20 crimp neck	Ochs Laborbedarf	Cat.: 102046
Crimp caps	N20, center hole	Macherey-Nagel	Cat.: 702804
Crimp septa	Butyl septa, black	Ochs Laborbedarf	Cat.: 102049
Syringe filter	45 μm, PVDF filter	Sigma-Adrich	Cat.: Z355518
Eppendorf tubes		Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.:
Falcon tubes		Sigma-Aldrich	Cat.:
Ferrozine plate	Nunc Microwell 96K	Thermo Scientific	Cat.: 269620

## A.3 Results

	Nitrate Concentrations [mg/L]						DOC concentrations [mg/L]				
Batch	Day 1	Day 2	Day 5	Rate	]	Day 1	Day 2	Day 5	Rate		
1	11.33	0.51	0.00	11.33		30.99	17.26	1.14	29.84		
2	14.52	0.55	0.00	14.52		29.04	18.05	0.90	28.14		
3	13.82	1.90	0.00	13.82		29.28	19.50	2.87	26.41		
4	15.34	9.61	3.28	12.06		7.09	0.47	0.36	6.73		
5	12.76	11.34	3.12	9.64		6.69	0.16	0.07	6.62		
6	17.18	13.59	6.26	10.93		7.25	0.21	0.00	7.25		
7	15.13	13.41	10.41	4.72		8.55	0.16	0.28	8.27		
8	19.80	14.38	10.01	9.79		6.93	0.64	0.03	6.90		
9	22.84	1.74	12.41	10.43		8.60	0.00	0.00	8.60		
10	9.23	4.11	1.17	8.06		8.26	0.00	0.00	8.26		
11	10.40	3.27	0.57	9.84		8.19	1.46	0.30	7.89		
12	11.02	3.87	0.42	10.61		7.81	0.00	0.00	7.81		
13	22.77	9.23	9.58	13.19		27.35	30.60	29.39	-2.04		
14	22.83	8.79	8.02	14.81		33.89	27.19	26.47	7.42		
15	22.90	7.43	5.85	17.05		38.30	27.22	25.05	13.25		

TABLE A.4: Evolution of Nitrate and DOC concentrations from the first series of measurements

 TABLE A.5: Evolution of Nitrate and DOC concentrations from the second series of measurements

Nitrate Concentrations [mg/L]						DOC concentrations [mg/L]				
Batch	Day 0	Day 1	Day 2	Day 5	Rate	Day	0 Day 1	Day 2	Day 5	Rate
1	25.60	19.10	13.70	4.56	21.04	9.6	9 9.25	9.23	9.43	0.26
2	25.80	18.70	13.90	5.80	20.00	11.3	5 9.31	9.00	11.44	-0.10
3	28.40	20.90	17.00	9.53	18.87	9.1	9 9.39	8.92	8.95	0.23
4	26.30	20.60	15.60	6.39	19.91	11.3	1 11.59	10.71	10.63	0.68
5	26.10	20.20	15.10	5.94	20.16	10.6	3 11.41	10.53	10.70	-0.07
6	24.10	20.40	14.70	5.45	18.65	11.2	2 11.92	10.97	10.71	0.51
7	22.73	21.30	15.70	11.10	11.63	5.1	7 6.33	5.43	4.47	0.70
8	23.13	21.70	19.20	14.50	8.63	4.7	5 6.31	4.45	4.83	-0.08
9	22.93	21.50	15.10	7.97	14.96	6.1	6 6.04	4.80	5.41	0.74
10	23.90	23.90	20.90	14.50	9.40	7.3	7 7.30	6.56	6.75	0.62
11	24.20	22.60	21.20	14.10	10.10	6.8	7 8.02	6.66	6.90	-0.03
12	24.00	22.50	21.30	13.90	10.10	7.7	2 8.05	7.66	7.03	0.69
13	25.10	5.06	2.84	0.13	24.97	14.3	9 7.90	7.87	7.43	6.96
14	23.80	5.01	2.54	0.10	23.70	14.9	0 7.77	7.12	7.45	7.45
15	24.10	4.55	2.34	0.10	24.00	14.0	5 7.67	6.94	6.93	7.12
16	25.00	25.50	25.90	24.50	0.50	36.0	8 35.63	33.45	33.39	2.69
17	24.70	26.00	25.00	21.70	3.00	32.2	0 31.57	31.00	28.37	3.83

**Appendix B** 

**Appendix - Figures** 



FIGURE B.1: Comparison of dinitrogen evolution between different treatments on different days from the first series of measurements. Treatment 1: 100% DOC, 100%  $NO_3^-$ , 20°C, Treatment 2: 25% DOC, 100%  $NO_3^-$ , 20°C, Treatment 3: 25% DOC, 100%  $NO_3^-$ , 12°C, Treatment 4: 25% DOC, 25%  $NO_3^-$ , 12°C, Treatment 5: Abiotic control, 20°C.



FIGURE B.2: Comparison of labeled dinitrogen evolution between different treatments on different days from the second series of measurements. Treatment 1: Mix zone, AGW, 12°C, Treatment 2: Mix zone, GW, 12°C, Treatment 3: Sat. zone, AGW, 12°C, Treatment 4: Sat. zone, GW, 12°C, Treatment 5: Sat. zone, GW, 20°C+ DOC, Treatment 6: Abiotic control, 20°C.

# **Declaration of Authorship**

Hiermit erkläre ich, André Böker, dass die Arbeit selbständig und nur unter Verwendung der angegebenen Hilfsmittel angefertigt wurde.

Signed:

Date: